UNIVERSIDAD DE SONORA

DIVISIÓN DE CIENCIAS BIOLÓGICAS Y DE LA SALUD

DEPARTAMENTO DE INVESTIGACIÓN Y POSGRADO EN ALIMENTOS

Programa de Posgrado en Ciencias y Tecnología de Alimentos

Título de la tesis

Microencapsulación de Aceite de Sardina Adicionado con Extractos de Cáscara de Nuez en una Matriz de Gliadinas y Metilcelulosa

TESIS

Como requisito parcial para obtener el grado de:

DOCTOR EN CIENCIAS DE LOS ALIMENTOS

Presenta:

M.C. Ramón Francisco Dórame Miranda

Hermosillo, Sonora

Junio, 2019

APROBACIÓN

Por medio de la presente me permito informar a usted que he revisado y hecho las correcciones necesarias al trabajo de tesis presentado por: **Ramón Francisco Dórame Miranda** y el cual se intitula **Microencapsulación de aceite de sardina adicionado con extracto de cáscara de nuez en una matriz de gliadinas y metilcelulosa** por lo que me permito dar mi **VOTO APROBATORIO** al respecto, para que se proceda a la impresión de la tesis.

Dra. Nohemí Gámez Meza Directora de Tesis

Dra. Josafat Marina Ezquerra Brauer Codirectora de Tesis

Dr. Luis Ángel Medina Juárez Sinodal de Tesis

Dr. José Luis Cardenas López Sinodal de Tesis

Or. Jaime Lizardi Mendoza Sinodal de Tesis

Hermosillo, Sonora

Junio del 2019

DERECHOS DE AUTOR

Hermosillo, Sonora a Junio de 2019 Asunto: Cesión de derechos

UNIVERSIDAD DE SONORA P R E S E N T E.

Por este conducto hago constar que soy autor y titular de la obra denominada Microencapsulación de Aceite de Sardina Adicionado con Extractos de Cáscara de Nuez en una Matriz de Gliadinas y Metilcelulosa, en los sucesivo LA OBRA, realizada como trabajo terminal con el propósito de obtener el Grado de DOCTOR EN CIENCIAS DE LOS ALIMENTOS, en virtud de lo cual autorizo a la Universidad de Sonora (UNISON) para que efectúe la divulgación, publicación, comunicación pública, distribución, distribución pública, distribución electrónica y reproducción, así como la digitalización de la misma, con fines académicos o propios de la institución y se integren a los repositorios de la universidad, estatales, regionales, nacionales e internacionales.

La UNISON se compromete a respetar en todo momento mi autoría y a otorgarme el crédito correspondiente en todas las actividades mencionadas anteriormente.

De la misma manera, manifiesto que el contenido académico, literario, la edición y en general cualquier parte de LA OBRA son de mi entera responsabilidad, por lo que deslindo a la UNISON por cualquier violación a los derechos de autor y/o propiedad intelectual y/o cualquier responsabilidad relacionada con la OBRA que cometa el suscrito frente a terceros.

GILBERTO LEÓN LEÓN Abogado General UNIVERSIDAD DE SONORA

Ramon Dorame D

Ramón Francisco Dórame Miranda

Hermosillo, Sonora

Junio, 2019

AGRADECIMIENTOS

En primera instancia agradezco a la Universidad de Sonora, por haberme aceptado, formado académicamente y hacer que me sintiera parte de ella.

Expreso mi agradecimiento al Departamento de Investigación y Posgrado en Alimentos (DIPA), de la Universidad de Sonora, así como al Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (CONACyT), por la beca otorgada para la realización de mis estudios de doctorado. Así como al Departamento de Investigación Científicas y Tecnólogas de la Universidad de Sonora (DICTUS), Departamento de Investigación en Polímeros y Materiales (DIPM), Departamento de Ciencias Químico Biológicas (DCQB) y al Cinvestav Unidad Querétaro.

Agradezco a la Dra. Nohemí Gámez Meza, primeramente por aceptar dirigirme y ser una guía importante en este camino. Le doy las gracias de todo corazón, ya que cuando no miraba luz en el ámbito académico, logró despertar nuevamente el amor por la ciencia. Le agradezco por todo el apoyo brindado para la realización de esta tesis, sus consejos y regaños.

Agradezco a la Dra. Josafat Marina Ezquerra Brauer, por todo su apoyo, enseñanzas y paciencia. Le quiero agradecer por aceptar dirigirme, por su gran disposición, palabras de aliento y ser un gran ejemplo de investigadora.

Agradezco a la Dra. Maribel Ovando Martínez, por aguantar mi carácter, por todo su apoyo, enseñanzas, guía y risas. Le quiero agradecer porque no sólo me ha enseñado metodologías, también me ha enseñado a ser más humilde y tolerante con los demás.

Agradezco al Dr. Luis Ángel Medida Juárez, por dejar que formará parte de su equipo. Por enseñarme y guiarme a lo largo del camino. Por creer en mí y apoyarme en todo lo que quería realizar, por hacer ver las cosas con diferentes perspectiva y desarrollar más mi pensamiento analítico.

Agradezco de antemano a los miembros del jurado, por las correcciones, apoyo y enseñanzas en el transcurso de estos años. Dr. José Luis Cárdenas López, Dr. Luis Ángel Medina Juárez y al Dr. Jaime Lizardi Mendoza.

Agradezco de antemano al Dr. Rafael Ramírez Bon y a la Dra. Irela Santos Sauceda, por su inmenso apoyo en mi estancia en Cinvestav Unidad Querétaro.

Agradezco de antemano todos los maestros y técnicos académicos que me apoyaron. A los maestros Claudia Molina, Roberto Mora Monroy y Cesar Otero.

Agradezco de antemano a los miembros del laboratorio de biotecnología de lípidos y laboratorio de investigación en alimentos (LIA).

Finalmente quiero agradecer a todos mis maestros, compañeros y a todas las personas que directa o indirectamente colaboraron, en la realización de este trabajo.

DEDICATORIAS

A DIOS

Por darme vida, salud, sabiduría y enseñarme que el amor está en todas partes. Por darnos fuerzas para seguir adelante y no rendirme.

A mi Esposa

Daniela Denisse Castro Enríquez, por su amor eterno, sincero, paciencia y gran corazón. Te doy gracias por tu apoyo incondicional en todo lo que me he propuestos alcanzar, por ser parte de mis logros, alegrías y tristezas. Por levantarme cuando ya no podía más y creer siempre en mí. Eres mi contraparte y todo lo que le hacía falta a mi vida.

A mi Familia

Por brindarme su apoyo incondicional, siendo una motivación y uno de los principales pilares para mi superación.

A mi Padres

Elva Hilda Miranda Aguilar y Ramón Dórame Arévalo, por su amor, apoyo y paciencia, por darme la vida, confiar y creer en mí siempre.

A mi Hermanos y Sobrinos

Oscar Gerardo Dórame Miranda y Dalia Guadalupe Dórame Miranda, los quiero mucho hermanos y les agradezco su apoyo y amor.

A mis maestros, amigos, amigos de laboratorio, compañeros y conocidos, que a diario conviví con ellos, de corazón muchas gracias y a todas las personas que directa o indirectamente me apoyaron. En especial a Carlos Gregorio Barreras Urbina, Juan Pedro López, Agustín Tapia Hernández, María de Jesús Moreno Vázquez, Yael Cornejo, Irela Santos Sauceda, Carlos Enríquez Castro, Vanessa Ruiz Lugo, Víctor Manuel Castañeda, María José Orendain, Alejandro Trasviña, Marcos de León, Q.B. Claudia Molina, Dra. Guadalupe López, Dra. Liz del Toro y a todas las personas que me apoyaron.

CONTENIDO

APROBACIÓN	II
DERECHOS DE AUTOR	III
AGRADECIMIENTOS	1
DEDICATORIAS	3
CONTENIDO	4
INTRODUCCIÓN	5
REFERENCIAS	9
DESARROLLO DEL TRABAJO DE INVESTIGACIÓN	12
CAPÍTULO I	14
BACTERIAL CELLULOSE PRODUCTION BY <i>GLUCONACETOBACTER ENTANII</i> USING PECAN NUTSHELL (<i>CARYA ILLINOINENSIS</i>) AS CARBON SOURCE AND ITS CHEMICAL	
FUNCTIONALIZATION	14
CAPÍTULO II	15
MICROENCAPSULATION OF SARDINE OIL BY ELECTROSPRAY DEPOSITION WITH GLIADIN PROTEINS AND PECAN NUTSHELL EXTRACTS	24
CAPÍTULO III	57
INFLUENCE OF SOLVENT ON THE PHENOLIC COMPOUNDS FROM PECAN NUTSHELL [<i>CARYA ILLINOINENSIS</i> (WAGENH) K. KOCH] AND THE ANTIOXIDANT CAPACITY	57
CONCLUSIONES	73
RECOMENDACIONES	74

INTRODUCCIÓN

En México, la industria pesquera captura alrededor de 1.3 millones de toneladas anuales de especies marinas, de las cuales, aproximadamente el 70 % se obtiene de la región noroeste (Estados de Baja California, Baja California Sur, Sinaloa y Sonora) (CONAPESCA, 2015). El estado de Sonora captura y procesa los mayores volúmenes de productos marinos en México. Se ha reportado un promedio anual de 320,000 toneladas en los últimos 5 años. Esta pesquería se encuentra en los primeros lugares a nivel mundial en la captura de pelágicos menores, entre los cuales se encuentra la sardina. Alrededor del 70% de esta sardina es procesada por las plantas productoras de harina de pescado, la cual, tiene importancia comercial como materia prima para la alimentación animal. Por tal motivo, se producen más de 10,000 toneladas al año de aceite de pescado como producto secundario con bajo valor comercial (CONAPESCA, 2015). Sin embargo, el consumo de sardina está en constante aumento, debido a su alto valor nutricional. Los contenidos altos de ácidos grasos de cadena larga omega-3 (ω-3) son reconocidos como sustancias potenciales favorables para la salud; los principales ácidos grasos poliinsaturados (AGPI) encontrados en el aceite de pescado son los ácidos eicosapentaenoico (C20:5 n-3, EPA) y ácido docosahexaenoico (C22:6 n-3, DHA). Dichos AGPI disminuyen el riesgo de enfermedades, tales como: enfermedades cardiovasculares, respuesta antiinflamatoria y ayuda al desarrollo en lactantes (Kolanowski y Berger, 1999; Kolanowski et al., 2004; Walker *et al.*, 2015). Por tal motivo, la FDA recomienda un consumo de 3000 mg de ácidos grasos ω -3, por día para los adultos. Como consecuencia de ello, la industria alimentaria tiene gran interés en desarrollar alimentos funcionales enriquecidos con AGPI ω-3. No obstante, debido a su naturaleza los hace susceptibles a procesos de oxidación lipídica (Vaisali et al., 2016), afectando negativamente el sabor, olor, color y valor nutricional de los aceites durante su almacenamiento (Tan et al., 2002; Comunian y Favaro-Trindade, 2016).

La microencapsulación es una de las alternativas prometedoras para fines de estabilización de AGPI ω -3. Una de las principales técnicas de encapsulación es la técnica de electroaspersión (Kaushik *et al.*, 2015; Gárcia-Moreno *et al.*, 2018; Liu *et al.*, 2018). Este método presenta varias ventajas tales como: no utiliza temperaturas altas, se obtienen materiales con alta eficiencia de encapsulación y es escalable a nivel industrial (Moomand y Lim, 2014; García-Moreno *et al.*, 2018). Además, su tamaño permite su fácil incorporación a los alimentos

sin afectar las cualidades sensoriales. Por tal motivo, esté método ha sido ampliamente utilizado para la encapsulación de ingredientes activos utilizando diferentes materiales de pared. Uno de los principales retos en la fabricación de microparticulas es la selección de los materiales de pared. Los materiales de pared hacen posible la liberación de los componentes encapsulados de forma controlada e incluso dirigida durante el procesamiento de alimentos o en el tracto gastrointestinal. Por lo cual, se han utilizado diversos materiales para la microencapsulación de los ω -3, entre los que destacan los subproductos agroindustriales de origen natural, los cuales podrían ser aprovechados para la obtención de materiales de pared. Entre estos destacan las proteínas, antioxidantes y carbohidratos.

Las gliadinas son un grupo de proteínas que se encuentran en el trigo. Estas pueden ser fácilmente extraídas del gluten en soluciones de etanol al 70%. Las gliadinas son proteínas monoméricas con un peso molecular entre 25,000 y 70,000 Da, que carecen de puentes disulfuro intermoleculares y son fácilmente solubles en soluciones alcohólicas (He *et al.*, 2013). Estas proteínas son polimórficas y se pueden clasificar sobre la base de su movilidad electroforética en cuatro fracciones: α (25-35 kDa), β (30-35 kDa), γ (35 de 40 kDa) y ω (55-70 kDa). La composición de aminoácidos muestra que las gliadinas tienen cantidades iguales de aminoácidos polares y neutros, principalmente glutamina (aproximadamente 40%), además de un contenido alto de prolina (14%) (Balaguer *et al.*, 2013). Además, de presentar otras ventajas como: amplia disponibilidad, fácil extracción y bajo costo.

Otro subproducto importante es la cáscara de nuez pecana (*Carya illinoinensis*), el cual ha sido estudiado debido a su variada composición de compuestos fenólicos y capacidad antioxidante alta (Balasundram *et al.*, 2006; De la Rosa *et al.*, 2010; Hilbig *et al.*, 2018). Los principales compuestos identificados han sido el ácido gálico, el ácido clorogénico, el ácido elágico, el ácido p-hidroxibenzoico, catequinas, epigalocatequinas y galato de epicatequinas (do Prado *et al.*, 2014; Alvarez-Parrilla *et al.*, 2018; Hilbig *et al.*, 2018). Estos compuestos tienen una gran variedad de aplicaciones en alimentos, productos farmacéuticos, medicina y agricultura, entre otros (Alvarez-Parrilla *et al.*, 2018). Los antioxidantes naturales como las catequinas han mostrado ser un material adecuado para la estabilización del aceite de sardina (Vaisali *et al.*, 2016). Por otro lado, las catequinas además de tener una potente capacidad antioxidante, también presentan actividad antimicrobiana.

Otro de los materiales de recubrimiento que están llamando la atención es la celulosa bacteriana (CB), la cual se puede obtener mediante fermentación con diferentes microorganismos, destacando las del género *Gluconoacetobacter* (Shi *et al.*, 2014; Lin *et al.*, 2013). Es un subproducto de la producción de ácido acético a nivel industrial (Mohammadkazemi *et al.*, 2015; Pacheco *et al.*, 2017). Este es un polímero natural atractivo en la fabricación de materiales con interés en el área de alimentos y la industria farmacéutica. Este material es reconocido como un material GRAS por la FDA.

Se ha observado que *G. xylinus* (PTCC, 1734), produce un alto rendimiento (43.5 g L-1), aunque éste rendimiento puede variar dependiendo del medio de cultivo, especie y condiciones de incubación (Lin *et al.*, 2013; Shi *et al.*, 2014). Para la especie *entanii* son escasos los trabajos donde se reporta su producción, purificación y moficación química. Un material de interés a partir de la CB es la metilcelulosa, la cual se encuentra entre los principales compuestos utilizados en el área de alimentos y la industria farmacéutica (Lin *et al.*, 2013; Mohammadkazemi *et al.*, 2015; Pacheco *et al.*, 2017). Con este material se podrían obtener películas claras, duras y flexibles con excelentes propiedades de barrera para la protección de aceites y grasas.

La microencapsulación con este tipo de materiales podría ser utilizada en una gran cantidad de productos alimenticios secos y en polvo, debido a su escasa solubilidad.

Por otro lado, durante la elaboración de harina de pescado, se genera aceite como subproducto. El cual debido a su contenido alto de AGPI omega-3 (EPA y EHA), podría considerarse un ingrediente de alto valor nutricional. Sin embargo, esto mismo, el contenido alto de AGPI hace al aceite de pescado susceptible a los factores ambientales, disminuyendo su estabilidad oxidativa y su valor nutricional, convirtiéndolo en un riesgo potencial para la salud.

Por tal motivo, el aceite de sardina debe ser estabilizado mediante técnicas como la microencapsulación. El uso de subproductos agroindustriales como fuentes de compuestos antioxidantes y material de pared podrían ayudar a estabilizar el aceite de sardina mediante técnicas de microencapsulación. Por lo tanto, en la presente tesis, se tiene como objetivo evaluar la microencapsulación de aceite de sardina adicionado con extractos de cáscara de nuez en una matriz de metilcelulosa o gliadinas.

En este trabajo se evaluó la optimización de un proceso de microencapsulación de aceite de sardina adicionado con extractos de cáscara de nuez en una matriz de metilcelulosa o

gliadinas, a fin de prolongar su vida de anaquel. Para lo cual se establecieron las condiciones de obtención de celulosa bacteriana a partir de *Gluconacetobacter entanii* usando cáscara de nuez pecana (*Carya illinoinensis*) como fuente de carbón. Así, como la conversión de la celulosa de la bacteria *Gluconacetobacter entanii*, a su derivado metilcelulosa.

REFERENCIAS

- Alvarez-Parrilla, E., Urrea-lópez, R., y Rosa, L. A. De. (2018). Bioactive components and health effects of pecan nuts and their by-products: a review. J. *Food Bioact*, *1*, 56-92.
- Balaguer, M. P., Borne, M., Chalier, P., Gontard, N., Morel, M. H., Peyron y Hernandez-Munoz,
 P. (2013). Retention and release of cinnamaldehyde from wheat protein matrices. *Biomacromolecules*, 14(5), 1493-1502.
- Biswas, A., Berfield, J. L., Saha, B. C., y Cheng, H. N. (2013). Conversion of agricultural byproducts to methyl cellulose. *Industrial Crops & Products*, *46*, 297–300.
- Comunian, T. A., y Favaro-Trindade, C. S. (2016). Microencapsulation using biopolymers as an alternative to produce food enhanced with phytosterols and omega-3 fatty acids: A review. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *61*, 442-457.
- CONAPESCA. (2015). Anuario estadístico de acuacultura y pesca. Comisión Nacional de Acuacultura y Pesca.
- De la Rosa, L. A., Alvarez-Parrilla, E., y Shahidi, F. (2010). Phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity of kernels and shells of Mexican pecan (Carya illinoinensis). *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, *59*(1), 152-162.
- do Prado, A. C. P., da Silva, H. S., da Silveira, S. M., Barreto, P. L. M., Vieira, C. R. W., Maraschin, M., Ferreira, S. R. S., y Block, J. M. (2014). Effect of the extraction process on the phenolic compounds profile and the antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of extracts of pecan nut. *Industrial Crops & Products*, 52, 552–561.
- Filho, G. R., de Assunção, R. M. N., Vieira, J. G., Meireles, C. da S., C Filho Erqueira, D. A., da Silva Barud, H., Ribeiro, S. J. L., y Messaddeq, Y. (2007). Characterization of methylcellulose produced from sugar cane bagasse cellulose: Crystallinity and thermal properties. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 92(2), 205–210.
- García-moreno, P. J., Pelayo, A., Yu, S., Busolo, M., Lagaron, J. M., Chronakis, I. S., y Jacobsen, C. (2018). Physicochemical characterization and oxidative stability of fi sh oil- loaded electrosprayed capsules : Combined use of whey protein and carbohydrates as wall materials. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 231, 42–53.

- He, J., Penson, S., Powers, S. J., Hawes, C., Shewry, P. R., y Tosi, P. (2013). Spatial patterns of gluten protein and polymer distribution in wheat grain. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 61(26), 6207-6215.
- Hilbig, J., Britto, P. De, Maria, V., Souza, A. De, Curi, R., y Mara, J. (2018). Aqueous extract from pecan nut [Carya illinoinensis (Wangenh) C . Koch] shell show activity against breast cancer cell line MCF-7 and Ehrlich ascites tumor in Balb-C mice. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 211, 256–266.
- Kaushik, P., Dowling, K., Barrow, C. J., y Adhikari, B. (2015). Microencapsulation of omega-3 fatty acids : A review of microencapsulation and characterization methods. *Journal of functional foods*, 19, 868–881.
- Kolanowski, W., y Berger, S. (1999). Possibilities of fish oil application for food products enrichment with omega-3 PUFA. *International journal of food sciences and nutrition*, 50(1), 39-49.
- Kolanowski, W., Laufenberg, G., y Kunz, B. (2004). Fish oil stabilisation by microencapsulation with modified cellulose. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 55(4), 333-343.
- Lin, S. P., Calvar, I. L., Catchmark, J. M., Liu, J. R., Demirci, A., y Cheng, K. C. (2013). Biosynthesis, production and applications of bacterial cellulose. *Cellulose*, 20(5), 2191– 2219.
- Liu, Z., Zhang, Y., Yu, D., Wu, D., & Li, H. (2018). Fabrication of sustained-release zein nanoparticles via modi fi ed coaxial electrospraying. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 334, 807–816.
- Mohammadkazemi, F., Azin, M., y Ashori, A. (2015). Production of bacterial cellulose using different carbon sources and culture media. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, *117*, 518–523.
- Moomand, K., y Lim, L. T. (2014). Oxidative stability of encapsulated fish oil in electrospun zein fibres. *Food Research International*, 62, 523–532.
- Pacheco, G., Nogueira, C. R., Meneguin, A. B., Trovatti, E., Silva, M. C. C., Machado, R. T. A., Ribeiro, S. J. L., da S. Filho, E. C., y da S. Barud, H. (2017). Development and characterization of bacterial cellulose produced by cashew tree residues as alternative carbon source. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 107, 13–19.

- Shi, Z., Zhang, Y., Phillips, G. O., y Yang, G. (2014). Utilization of bacterial cellulose in food. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *35*, 539–545.
- Tan, C. P., Man, Y. C., Selamat, J., y Yusoff, M. S. A. (2002). Comparative studies of oxidative stability of edible oils by differential scanning calorimetry and oxidative stability index methods. *Food Chemistry*, 76(3), 385-389.
- Vaisali, C., Belur, P. D., y Regupathi, I. (2016). Comparison of antioxidant properties of phenolic compounds and their effectiveness in imparting oxidative stability to sardine oil during storage. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 69, 153-160.

DESARROLLO DEL TRABAJO DE INVESTIGACIÓN

Para probar la hipótesis planteada, que fue que la microencapsulación del aceite de sardina en una matriz de gliadinas y metilcelulosa, adicionado con compuestos antioxidantes de la cáscara de nuez pecan (*Carya illinoinensis*), permitirá proteger a los ácidos grasos contra factores ambientales y facilitará su uso como ingrediente nutracéutico, el trabajo experimental, se dividió en tres etapas, las cuales se describen en los siguientes tres capítulos.

Capítulo 1: Obtención de celulosa bacteriana a partir de *Gluconacetobacter entanii* usando cáscara de nuez pecana (*Carya illinoinensis*) como fuente de carbón

Este capítulo consiste en un manuscrito titulado: "Bacterial cellulose production by *Gluconacetobacter entanii* using pecan nutshell (*Carya illinoinensis*) as carbon source and its chemical functionalization", publicado en la revista Carbohydrate Polymers. El manuscrito contiene información acerca de la obtención de celulosa bacteriana empleando como fuente de carbono para el crecimiento de la bacteria *Gluconacetobacter entanii* la cáscara de la nuez pecanera (Fecha de publicación: 23 de noviembre de 2018, Vol. 207, Pág. 91-99, Doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2018.11.067).

Capítulo 2: Establecimiento de las condiciones óptimas para la microencapsulación del aceite de sardina adicionado con extractos de cáscara de nuez pecana (*Carya illinoinensis*) como antioxidante en una matriz de metilcelulosa o gliadinas.

Este capítulo consiste en un manuscrito titulado: "Microencapsulation of sardine oil by electrospray deposition with gliadin proteins and pecan nutshell extracts", sometido a la revista LWT- Food Science and Technology. El manuscrito contiene información acerca de la optimización del proceso microencapsulación del aceite de sardina empleando metilcelulosa gliadinas, adicionado con compuestos fenólicos de la cáscara de nuez pecana (*Carya illinoinensis*) y de las propiedades físicas y químicas de las microcapsulas obtenidas.

Capítulo 3: Caracterización de los compuestos fenólicos con actividad antioxidante presentes en la cáscara de nuez pecana [*Carya illinoinensis* (Wagenh) K. Koch]

Este capítulo consiste en un manuscrito titulado: "Influence of solvent on the phenolic compounds from pecan nutshell [*Carya illinoinensis* (Wagenh) K. Koch] and the antioxidant capacity", que se contempla someter a la revista Food Analytical Methods. Este estudio proporciona una descripción completa del contenido de compuestos fenólico presentes en la cáscara de nuez pecana.

CAPÍTULO I

Bacterial cellulose production by *Gluconacetobacter entanii* using pecan nutshell (*Carya* illinoinensis) as carbon source and its chemical functionalization

Carbohydrate Polymers 207 (2019) 91-99



Bacterial cellulose production by Gluconacetobacter entanii using pecan nutshell as carbon source and its chemical functionalization



R.F. Dórame-Miranda^a, N. Gámez-Meza^{b,*}, L.Á. Medina-Juárez^b, J.M. Ezquerra-Brauer^a, M. Ovando-Martínez^b, J. Lizardi-Mendoza^c

⁸ Departamento de Investigación y Posgrado en Alimentos, Universidad de Sonora, Blvd. Rosales y Luís Encinas s/n, Col. Centro, Hermosillo, Sonora, C.P. 83000, Mexico ^b Departamento de Investigaciones Científicas y Tecnológicas de la Universidad de Sonora, Blvd. Luís Donaldo Colosio s/n, Col. Centro, Hermosillo, Sonora, C.P. 83000, Mexico ^c Centro de Investigación en Alimentación y Desarrollo, A.C. (CIAD, A.C), Carretera, a La Victoria, Km. 0.6, La Victoria, Hermosillo, Sonora, Mexico

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Keywords: Pecan by-products Gluconacetobacter entanii Chemical modification Methylcellulose synthesis

Pecan nutshell is an abundant waste with a high content of carbohydrates. According to its chemical composition, pecan nutshell could be used as carbon source for *Gluconacetobacter entanii*, a bacterium that produces cellulose with high purity and nanometric characteristics. Bacterial cellulose (BC) was obtained from a static culture medium using pecan nutshell as carbon source and saccharose as control. Results showed that the pecan nutshell could be used as carbon source for production of BC. The cellulose yield ranged around 2.816 \pm 0.040 g/L for 28 days. The morphological, structural and chemical properties of the cellulose produced were similar to those reported for others BC. The spectroscopic characterization indicated the chemical func-tionalization of BC and the reduction of its crystallinity. The production of BC with *G. entanii* using pecan nutshell as carbon source, is the first report. The BC could have potential use in chemical functionalization and in the preparation of biocomposites

1. Introduction

Cellulose is one of the most abundant biopolymer on the planet and the main by-product worldwide (Cairul, Mohd, Abadi, & Katas, 2014; Castro et al., 2012). This polymer is mainly synthesized by plants (Somerville, 2006). Additionally, microorganisms from protista, fungi,

and bacteria kingdoms can also synthesize cellulose (Keshk, 2014). In the present, nanomaterials obtained from cellulose have attracted great attention due to the unique thermal, optical and mechanical properties (Chen, Zhu, Baez, Kitin, & Elder, 2016). These nanomaterials of cellulose are commonly obtained by acid hydrolysis from lignocellulosic components (Chen et al., 2015). However, in obtaining by hydrolysis are used large volumes of concentrated acid and high temperatures. For this reason, these methods remain environmentally unsustainable, very expensive, and economically out of reach for development of applications. Besides, low yields are reported (approximately 30% by weight) (Chen et al., 2015, 2016). Nowadays, the use of bac-teria to generate cellulose with high purity is of great interest. The cellulose produced by bacteria has nanometric characteristics, good thermal and mechanical properties (Shi, Zhang, Phillips, & Yang, 2014; Lin et al., 2013). Also, not require aggressive treatments for purification

and is environmentally sustainable. The bacteria of the genus Gluconacetobacter have been identified as good producers of bacterial cellu-lose (BC) in static culture medium. G. entanii has been identified as producer of industrial vinegar (Yucel & Karabiyikli, 2011). However, the reports about its activity to produce BC and their physicochemical characterization are scarce.

By the other side, the main challenge in bacterial cellulose pro-duction is to find suitable carbon sources that are cheap, abundant and that do not compete with the food production (Kiziltas, Kiziltas, & Gardner, 2015). Agroindustrial by-products such as grape skin (Carreira et al., 2011), rice wine (Wu & Liu, 2012), wheat straw (Chen, Hong, Yang, & Han, 2013), dry olive (Gomes et al., 2013), coffee cherry husk (Rani & Appaiah, 2013), and cashew tree (Pacheco et al., 2017) have been analyzed and used as carbon source for BC production. Nevertheless, new sources of carbon need to be investigated.

Pecan nutshell (Carya illinoinensis) is a by-product that has not been investigated as carbon source in the production of BC. Around 40–50% of the total pecan production represents a waste generated worldwide, which is not used (do Prado et al., 2014; Hilbig et al., 2018). According to the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAOSTAT, 2016), nutshell production is more than 460×10^3 tons. In addition, it has been

* Corresponding author. E-mail addresses: nohemi.gamez@unison.mx, ngamez@guayacan.uson.mx (N. Gámez-Meza).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2018.11.067

Received 25 August 2018; Received in revised form 21 November 2018; Accepted 21 November 2018 Available online 23 November 2018 0144-8617/ © 2018 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

Carbohydrate Polymers 207 (2019) 91-99



Fig. 1. Schematic diagram of the chemical functionalization.

 Table 1

 Composition of pecan nutshell (Carya illinoinensis).

Component ^a	Composition (%)		
Moisture	11.50 ± 0.14		
Ash	1.76 ± 0.02		
Lipids	0.30 ± 0.01		
Protein ^b	1.30 ± 0.01		
Crude fiber	55.65 ± 0.49		
Carbohydrates ^c	29.48 ± 0.33		

^a The values are mean $(n = 3) \pm$ standard deviation.

^b Protein [nitrogen (N) \times 6.25].

^c Carbohydrate content was calculated by difference.



Fig. 2. Kinetic of bacterial cellulose production using nutshell of pecan (Carya illinoinensis). Mean $(n = 3) \pm$ standard deviation. Bars represent the standard deviation.

with a D8 Advance powder X-ray diffractometer (Bruker, Germany), using Cu K α radiation ($\lambda=0.1541$ nm) generated at 40 kV and 20 mA. The spectrum of XRD was recorded from 10° to 50° at 1°/s and a sampling rate of 20 data/s. The crystallinity index (CI) was calculated

using the Eq. (2) (Segal, Creely, Martin, & Conrad, 1958):

$$Crystallinity \ index \ (CI) = \frac{I_{002} + I_{am}}{I_{002}} \times 100\%$$
(2)

Where I_{002} is the overall intensity of the peak at 2 θ , and I_{am} is the intensity of the baseline at 2 θ .

The crystal size was calculated by the Scherrer equation (Castro et al., 2011):

$$Crystal size = \frac{0.9\lambda}{FWHM \cos \theta}$$
(3)

Where FWHM is the width of the peak at half the maximum height. θ is Bragg's angle, and λ is the wavelength of the X-rays.

2.4.3. FT-IR spectroscopy

The BC, MC (MC1 and MC2) and SMC (0.5 mg) were ground, mixed with 20 mg of KBr, and pressed into pastilles. The characterization was conducted in a FT-IR spectrometer (FT-IR Spectrum GX, Perkin-Elmer, USA) with an average of 16 scans, over a spectral range of 4000–400 cm⁻¹, at a resolution of 4 cm⁻¹.

2.4.4. X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy analysis (XPS)

Surface composition of BC, MC (MC1 and MC2) and SMC was determined by XPS. An XPS PHI 5100 (Perking-Elmer, USA) with an AlK α X-ray source (1486.6 eV photons) at a constant dwell time of 50 ms, and a pass energy of 17.90 eV was used. The anode voltage and anode current were 15 kV, and 10 MA (150 W). For determining the binding energy of methyl group, spectra obtained were fitted assuming a Gaussian–Lorentzian distribution. A software PeakFit v4.12, Systat Software Inc was used.

2.4.5. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC)

The calorimetry assay was realized with a DSC 8500 (Perkin-Elmer, USA). BC, MC (MC1 and MC2), and SMC (5 mg) were put in aluminum pans. The samples were analyzed from 25 to 250 °C using an oxidative atmosphere with a heating rate of 10 °C/min.

reported that nutshell has a high content of fiber crude (mainly cellulose and lignin) and carbohydrates (≈ 90%) (Flores-Córdova, Sánchez-Chávez, Chávez-Mendoza, García-Hernández, & Preciado-Rangel, 2016). Therefore, nutshell could be used as source of nutrient to grow bacteria specialized in BC production.

The BC is used in the industry in controlled release systems, biomedical applications, nanocomposite, and as matrices for chemical functionalization (Cairul et al., 2014). The functionalization of BC includes biosynthetic modifications and chemical modifications. The chemical modification of BC can improve its compatibility with different matrixes and expand its utilization in industrial applications (Lin et al., 2013; Shi et al., 2014). BC has abundant hydroxyl groups, and the fibers obtained present nanometric sizes, which makes it suitable for combination with functional groups (Hu, Chen, Yang, Li, & Wang, 2014). Therefore, it can be carboxymethylated, acetylated, and methylated to obtain BC derivatives. The physicochemical properties of methylated cellulose (MC) depend on the number of methoxyl groups incorporated along the cellulose structure. The MC has diverse applications such as additive in adhesives, protective coatings, cosmetics, thickener, emulsifier, stabilizing agent in the food industry, and biomedical applications (Biswas, Berfield, Saha, & Cheng, 2013). Therefore, the aim of this research was to obtain BC by Gluconacetobacter entanii using pecan nutshell (Carya illinoinensis) as carbon source, characterize, and study the chemical functionalization of the BC. The results of this study might provide information of a new carbon source for BC production.

2. Materials and methods

A native strain of *Gluconacetobacter entanii* by the National Polytechnic Institute, Mexico City was provided. The nutshell of pecan (*Carya illinoinensis*) was obtained from the Grupo Alta, S.A. de C.V., Mexico. The standard methylcellulose (SMC) (average $M_n \sim 40,000$), sodium hydroxide (NaOH) 99%, glacial acetic acid ($C_2H_4O_2$) 99%, and dimethyl sulphate (DMS) 99% were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Saccharose, peptone, yeast extract, absolute ethanol, and urea were analytical grade.

2.1. Chemical characterization

2.1.1. Proximal chemical analysis of pecan nutshell

The content of moisture (930.15), ash (942.05), protein (984.13), fat (920.39), and fiber (962.09) was measured in nutshell of pecan (*Carya illinoinensis*) by the official methods of the Association of Official Agricultural Chemists (AOAC). Carbohydrates content was calculated by difference. The moisture content was determined drying at 135°C for 2 h. The ash by furnace at 550°C was determined. Protein was calculated by the determination of nitrogen (N) using the Kjeldahl method with the 6.25 conversion factor. The fat content by Soxhlet method was determined with petroleum ether as dissolvent. Fiber is the organic residue remaining after digesting with H₂SO₄ and NaOH, and the content by gravimetric method was evaluated. The proximal analyzes were expressed as the mean (n = 3) ± standard deviation.

2.1.2. Reducing sugar determination

Ten grams of pecan nutshell were mixed with 100 mL of distilled water. The mixture was heated at 80 °C, during 2 h under Constant stirring at 500 rpm. After heating, samples were treated with sonication (Branson ultrasonic, model 1510, Danbury, USA) for 60 min, and submitted to sterilization at 120 °C for 15 min. The supernatant was separated by filtration through Whatman no. 1 filter paper. The total reducing sugar concentration was determined after hydrolysis by the 3, 5 dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) assay, using D-glucose as standard (Lin, Lopez-Sanchez, Li, & Li, 2014). Sugar yield was calculated using the following Eq. (1):

Reducing sugar yield (%) =
$$\frac{\text{Reducing sugar weight (g)}}{\text{Pecan nutshell weight (g)}} \times 100$$
 (1)

2.2. BC production

The identification of the strain was reported previously by sequencing the amplified product of 16S rRNA (López-Isunza & Velasco-Bedrán, 2007). The bacteria *G. entanti* were maintained and cultivated in static culture medium. After incubation period, the culture medium was shaken and used as seeding inoculum.

Two culture media were tested, in the first one, nutshell of pecan (*Carya illinoinensis*) was used as carbon source with a content of reducing sugars of 40 g/L; while the second one, saccharose (40 g/L) as carbon source was used. For both culture media, peptone (10 g/L), yeast extract (10 g/L), glacial acetic acid and absolute ethanol (10 g/L), dibasic ammonium phosphate (2.4 g/L), ammonium sulphate (0.3 g/L), and magnesium sulphate (0.1 g/L) were added. The culture media was sterilized, acidified at pH 3.5 with acetic acid, and incubated at 30 °C. The production kinetics of BC was evaluated at 2, 8, 12, 16, 24, and 28 days. The kinetic of BC production was expressed as the mean (n = 3) \pm standard deviation, using the software SigmaPlot 12.5 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA, USA).

2.2.1. BC purification and quantification

After the incubation period, BC membranes were withdrawn from the culture medium and treated with 0.5 M NaOH solution to eliminate all attached cells. Then, the membranes were washed with distilled water until to reach a pH 7.0. Finally, the purified BC membranes were lyophilized (Labconco FreeZone 2.5 Plus, Kansas City). BC were weight and stored for later analyzes (Carreira et al., 2011; Gomes et al., 2013).

2.3. BC chemical functionalization

Two types of MC were prepared (MC1 and MC2). The chemical functionalization of the BC was performed according to Zhou, Zhang, Deng, & Wu, 2004 with modifications. For the preparation of MC, 1.0 g of powder of BC was mercerized using a NaOH/urea solution (12/3%, w/v). The resulting mixture was frozen at -12 °C and stored for 12 h. The product thus obtained was homogenized for 5 min using an Ultra-Turrax homogenizer (Ultra-Turrax, Model T50, IKA-Works, Inc., Cincinnati). 5 g of dimethyl sulphate (DMS) for MC1 and 7 g for MC2 was added slowly at room temperature (Fig. 1). The MCs obtained were neutralized with 10% acetic acid, filtered, and purified with water. Finally, the MCs were dried at 50 °C for 6 h in the oven.

2.4. Physicochemical and morphological characterization of BC and MC

The BC, BC with attached cells, as well as the MC (MC1 and MC2) were morphologically characterized. Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR), X-ray diffraction (XRD), X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy analysis (XPS), differential scanning calorimetry (DSC), and thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) were used to verify the chemical functionalization of BC, MC1 and MC2. A standard of methylcellulose (SMC) was used as a control.

2.4.1. Scanning electron microscope analysis (SEM)

Micrographs were obtained from scanning electron microscope (SEM) JSM-5410LV (JEOL, Tokyo, Japan) at 20 kV and high vacuum. The BC, BC with attached cells, and MC (MC1 and MC2) were prepared under high vacuum using gold as coated. The fibers diameter was obtained using the software image J version 3.0. The diameter was obtained by the average of one hundred fibers in five different fields.

2.4.2. X-ray diffraction (XRD)

The BC, powder of MC, and standard methylcellulose were analyzed



Fig. 3. SEM images of the bacterial cellulose produced at 2000 (a, d) and 3,500X (b, e). Bacterial cellulose with attached cells (a, b), purified bacterial cellulose (d, e), and frequency histogram bacterial cellulose with attached cells (c) and purified bacterial cellulose (f). The bacterial cellulose was obtained after 14 days of culture.



Fig. 4. SEM images of the bacterial cellulose after chemical functionalization at 500 (a, c) and 1,000X (b, d), methylcellulose 1 (MC1) (a, b), and methylcellulose 2 (MC2) (c, d).



Fig. 5. X-ray diffraction pattern of bacterial cellulose produced, standard methylcellulose (SMC), methylcellulose 1 (MC1) and methylcellulose 2 (MC2).

Table 2

Crystallinity index and crystal size of bacterial cellulose produced, standard methylcellulose (SMC), methylcellulose 1 (MC1) and methylcellulose 2 (MC2).

Samples	Crystallinity Index (%)	Crystallite size (nm)		
		(1 ī 0)	(200)	(110)
BC	90.08	5.13	6.27	5.66
SMC	30.87	ND ^a	ND ^a	0.65
MC1	29.96	ND ^a	ND ^a	0.63
MC2	32.68	NDa	NDa	0.93

^a ND = not detected.

2.4.6. Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA)

BC, MC (MC1 and MC2), and SMC (3 mg) were heated at 10 °C/min up to 800 °C with a nitrogen flow of 25 mL/min. The air flow for the oxidation of the sample was 600 °C at 25 °C/min. The analyzes were conducted in a TGA Pyris 1 (Perkin-Elmer, USA).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Chemical characterization

Results of the proximal analysis showed that pecan nutshell is a good source of carbohydrates (Table 1). The highest value was for crude fiber, followed by carbohydrates. Reducing sugars comprised 34.63 \pm 0.45% of the carbohydrates content. Reports about carbohydrates content in pecan nutshell are scarce, however, it was similar to other varieties of nut. These carbohydrates included starch, glucose, sucrose, fructose, and dextrose (Wu, Liu, & Teixeira da Silva, 2009). The

high content of these components in pecan nutshell is promising, because nutshell could be a carbon source for the BC production by bacteria.

3.2. BC production

The BC production can be greatly influenced by bacterial species, type of reactor, pH, temperature, aerobic conditions, and concentration of the nutrients in the culture media. Among these nutrients, the effect of the carbon sources has been subject of continuous studies for both, industry and research groups (Castro et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2018). In this study, the effect of pecan nutshell as carbon sources in the BC production was studied. Also, the kinetics of cellulose production using *G. entanii* is reported for the first time.

The production of BC is shown in relation to time (Fig. 2). In the first phase of incubation (1-3 days), BC pellicle could not be observed in the culture media. In the first phase, cell multiplication takes place rapidly, after the day 4, BC pellicles appeared on the media. The BC yield was 0.54 ± 0.03 g/L with pecan nutshell as carbon source. The maximum yield was 2.81 ± 0.04 g/L at day 28 for pecan nutshell. This result is consistent with previous studies by Mohammadkazemi, Azin, and Ashori, (2015), Hsieh, Wang, Lai, and Liu (2016), and Zhao et al. (2018) using different carbon sources. BC is produced in response to a restriction of nutrients as a secondary metabolite (Cannon & Anderson, 1991). The bacteria hydrolyze the carbohydrates into glucose and fructose, which are converted into ethanol. The bacteria take longer to metabolize the carbohydrates, for this reason, the production was low among the 4 to 16 days. After 20 days, the BC from pecan nutshell showed more production. This increased production may be due to the great variety of compounds present in the nutshell. The bacteria of genus Gluconacetobacter are capable of completely oxidizing various carbon sources such as sucrose, glucose, fructose, galactose, mannitol, glycerol, inositol, and alcohols to produce cellulose (Ruka, Simon, & Dean. 2012).

3.3. BC chemical functionalization

During the dissolution process, the inter- and intramolecular hydrogen bonded cellulose chains were broken down and the hydroxyl groups were transformed to alkali cellulose due to the high concentration of hydroxide. NaOH/urea solvent is known to disrupt hydrophobic interactions and the intramolecular hydrogen bond in the cellulose (Budtova & Navard, 2016). The introduction of functional groups to the BC structure can endow it of various features such as to increase the hydrophilic properties and to decrease the crystallinity (Fig. 1) (Hu et al., 2014). The solubility of cellulose was increased at low temperatures (Jiang, Lu, Zhou, & Zhang, 2012).

3.4. Physicochemical and morphological properties of BC and MC

3.4.1. SEM images of BC and synthetized MC

The BC with attached cells showed a diameter of 120.29 ± 30.01 nm (Fig. 3c). The displayed an interconnected fibrous structure with presence of bacteria at a magnification of 2000 and 3,500X (Fig. 3a and b). The purified BC depicted in Fig. 3d and 3e showed a fibrous structure without bacteria. The purified fibers showed a diameter of 165.48 \pm 43.029 nm (Fig. 3f). This increase could be due to a process of mercerization by treatment with aqueous sodium hydroxide, where the BC fiber in contact with the water is hydrated and its volume is increased. In addition, the amorphous structures are occasional damaged (Gea et al., 2011). BC samples presented the typical structure of nanofibrils of cellulose (Li et al., 2015; Yim, Song, & Kim, 2017). The nanometric structure can be an advantage because of its large surface area.

In Fig. 4 displayed a BC after chemical functionalization. It both reactions, powders were obtained. The breaking of inter- and



Fig. 6. FT-IR spectrum of (a) bacterial cellulose produced, standard methylcellulose (SMC), methylcellulose 1 (MC1) and methylcellulose 2 (MC2) and (b) spectrum of 1450-400 cm⁻¹.

intramolecular hydrogen bonding can induce powder structures. This rupture of bonds is favored at low temperature (Cai & Zhang, 2005). The high solubility and low crystallinity increase the accessibility of hydroxyl groups into the cellulose surface. Thus, it increases the possibility of a chemical functionalization. Zhou et al. (2016) prepared acetylated cellulose powders by reacting cellulose with acetic anhydride. They concluded that the reaction of acetylation proceeds progressively from the surface to the core. In this study, a change in the surface of the materials according to the time of reaction was observed (Fig. 4b and d), suggesting a possible functionalization of BC.

3.4.2. X-ray diffraction

XRD diagrams of BC from pecan nutshell, standard methylcellulose (SMC), MC1, and MC2 are shown in Fig. 5. The characteristic peaks of cellulose type I are observed in BC from pecan nutshell (Ruka et al., 2012). The three visible peaks were assigned to (1 i 0), (1 1 0), and (2 0) orystallographic planes, corresponding to 2(theta) of 14.5°, 16.8°, and 22.7°, respectively (Castro et al., 2011). The samples showed a broadband crystallinity at $2\theta = 19-21^\circ$. Bacterial cellulose presented similar crystallinity and crystallite size by others BC (Table 2) (Castro et al., 2011; Gomes et al., 2013; Pacheco et al., 2017; Ruka et al., 2012). The crystallinity of bacterial cellulose will depend of culture media, nutrient concentration and time of incubation (Ruka et al., 2012).

Table 2 shows the crystal size of SMC and MC functionalization (MC1 and MC2). MC1 and MC2 showed similar crystallinity index to SMC, and MC1 showed similar crystallite size to SMC (Table 2). As the reaction progressed the substitution degree was increased in cellulose. The inclusions of the methyl groups had an effect on crystallinity of BC. Fig. 5 shows that crystallinity of BC decreases with the increase of the degree of substitution. This phenomenon may be due to broadening or cleavage of hydrogen bonds by methyl substitution at the hydroxyl groups of cellulose (Yeasmin & Mondal, 2015).

3.4.3. FT-IR spectroscopy

The spectrum of BC from pecan nutshell with similar peaks to those reported in the literature, confirming the basic structure of BC (Fig. 6a). The band at ~3350 cm⁻¹ is assigned to the presence of hydroxyl groups stretching vibration, ~2905 cm⁻¹ is attributed to the presence of C–H stretching vibration, and ~1050–1065 cm⁻¹ could be associated with C–O–C and C–O–H stretching vibration of the sugar ring (Fig. 6b). These bands are typical of FI-IR spectra recorded from cellulose of type I (Gomes et al., 2013; Trovatti, Serafim, Freire, Silvestre, & Neto, 2011).

After functionalization, the band of hydroxyl groups stretching decreased and the C–H stretching band increased in MC1 and MC2. The increase absorption intensities can be due to the substitution of methyl groups in the samples (Rodrigues et al., 2007; Singh, 2013). FT-IR spectra of the SMC, MC1, and MC2 were similar, indicating that the polymer had similar chemical structure.

3.4.4. X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy analysis (XPS)

Additional evidence of the chemical functionalization of BC with methyl group was obtained by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS). The spectrum of BC show peaks characteristic of cellulose (Fig. 7a). Also, three peaks at 285.0, 286.5, and 288 eV were identified. These peaks were characteristic of C-H, C-C; C-O-H, C-O-C; and C=O (Fig. 7a-d). For MC1 and MC2 these peaks were observed (Fig. 7c-d). According to Yokota, Matsuyama, Kitaoka, and Wariishi (2007) these peaks are characteristics of methylcellulose, however, the intensities can change according to the degree of methylation. The C 1 s core-level spectrum of MC1 was consistent with methylcellulose control (Fig. 7b). with a degree of substitution (DS) of 1.83 data in (Fig. S1) supplementary information. Moreover, the DS of MC1 was of 1.25 and 1.45 for MC2 (results obtained by ¹³C NMR spectra). These results could indicate the successful chemical functionalization of BC. Successful etherification can be seen as an increase in C-C and ether C-O-C components (Fig. 7a and b). Vuoti, Talja, Johansson, Heikkinen, and



Fig. 7. XPS intensity as a function of binding energy from C1S spectra of a) BC from pecan nutshell, b) standard methylcellulose (SMC), c) methylcellulose 1 (MC1), and d) methylcellulose 2 (MC2). C1: C-H, C-C, C2: atmospheric carbon, C3: C-O-H, C-O-C, and C4: C = O.

Table 3

DSC values of the BC produced, standard methylcellulose (SMC), methylcellulose 1 (MC1) and methylcellulose 2 (MC2).

Samples	Dehydration peak	Fusion peak	Degradation peak
BC	86.68 °C (76.24 J/g)	ND ^a	ND ^a
SMC	87.00 °C (75.78 J/g)	ND ^a	ND ^a
MC1	114.00 °C (8.49 J/g)	195 °C (146.65 J/g)	262 °C (0.0244 J/g)
MC2	103.00 °C (3.74 J/g)	192 °C (255.30 J/g)	273 °C (0.1575 J/g)

^a ND = not detected.

Tammelin (2013) modified the cellulose surface with methyl groups. The XPS technique was used to confirm the functional groups of the products. These results are consistent with the FT-IR and degrees substitution data. Furthermore, the intensities of XPS peaks depend of crystallinity index and crystallite size.

3.4.5. Differential scanning calorimetry

Calorimetric analysis of BC shows an endotherm peak at 86.68 \pm 2.49 °C. The endotherm of dehydration (87–114 °C) was present in all samples (Table 3). The BC and SMC presented higher values of enthalpy of dehydration in contrast to the values of the functionalized samples MC1 and MC2. The difference of fusion peaks could be derived of their different degrees of substitution, different crystallinity, different crystallie size among MC1, MC2 and BC and SMC (Singh, 2013; Viera et al., 2007).

The BC is a crystalline polymer, its DSC thermogram does not

presented an endotherm fusion, and this behavior has been seen in another type of crystalline cellulose (Viera et al., 2007). In contrast with methylcellulose, which presented fusion endotherm peak at 192 and 195°C. Fusion peaks for BC and SMC was not detected in contrast with MC1 and MC2 (Table 3). These differences can be due to the nature of the standard and its process of functionalization. Finally, the fusion of the crystalline regions and the degradation of the methylcellulose occurred in temperatures of 262–273 °C for MC1 and MC2. This value of degradation indicated the rupture of inter and intramolecular bonds in the BC due to at the process of functionalization. The differences in thermal properties between commercial methylcellulose and functionalized methylcellulose can be attributed to two factors: the degree of substitution of the samples and the type of cellulose used in the synthesis.

3.4.6. Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA)

TGA thermograms of the samples are shown in Fig. 8. The BC showed a mass loss typical of cellulose of bacterial origin (Pacheco et al., 2017). Weight loss observed at 25–100 °C is attributed to the evaporation of adsorbed water (-3-5%) from the carbohydrate structure (Fig. 8a). The second weight loss in samples was due to decomposition stage at around 200 and 250 °C. On the other hand, the BC and SMC had higher thermal stability than chemically functionalized methylcellulose. But no major change in the thermal stability of these compounds is observed with respect to the SMC or the BC. At around 374–383 °C, the samples showed the maximum decomposition (Tonset) of around 73–92%. Fig. 8b shows the derivative of weight of the

Carbohydrate Polymers 207 (2019) 91-99



Fig. 8. Thermogravimetric behavior: a) TGA curves of the samples BC from pecan nutshell, SMC, MC1, and MC2; b) DTG of BC from pecan nutshell, standard methylcellulose (SMC), methylcellulose 1 (MC1) and methylc ellulose 2 (MC2).

samples. These events were attributed to a degradation processes including depolymerization, dehydration, and decomposition of glucose units, followed by the formation of a carbon residue (Cairul et al., 2014; Mohammadkazemi et al., 2015). Thermal degradation behavior is affected by some structure parameters such as crystallinity, and orientation of the fibers (Mohammadkazemi et al., 2015). In this case, the functionalized samples showed a good thermal stability. This thermal stability is attributed to success in the functionalization reaction.

4. Conclusion

Bacterial cellulose obtained by Gluconacetobacter entanii using pecan nutshell (Carya illinoinensis) as carbon source presented high purity and thermal stability. Therefore, pecan nutshell can be used as a as carbon source to produce bacterial cellulose with useful properties. These results can be useful as fundamental basis for the synthesis of methylcellulose from alternative sources of cellulose. Due to purity and thermal stability of these polymers (bacterial cellulose and methylcellulose) could be used as an alternative material in the food and pharmaceutical industry.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare they have no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgements

CONACYT and the University of Sonora supported this work. Ramón Dórame-Miranda is grateful to CONACYT for the scholarship.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary material related to this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2018.11.067.

References

- Biswas, A., Berfield, J. L., Saha, B. C., & Cheng, H. N. (2013). Conversion of agricultural by-products to methyl cellulose. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 46, 297–300. https:// rg/10.1016/j.indcrop.2013.01.039.
- Budtova, T., & Navard, P. (2016). Cellulose in NaOH water based solvents : a review. *Cellulose*, 23(1), 5–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-015-0779-8. Cai, J., & Zhang, L. (2005). Rapid dissolution of cellulose in lioh / urea and naoh / urea
- aqueous solutions. Macromolecular Bioscience, 5(6), 539-548. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.200400222.

- Cairul, M., Mohd, I., Abadi, A. G., & Katas, H. (2014). Purification, characterization and comparative studies of spray-dried bacterial cellulose microparticles. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, *99*, 180–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2013.08.041.
- Polymers, 99, 180–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbp01.2013.08.041.
 Cannon, R. E., & Anderson, S. M. (1991). Biogenesis of bacterial cellulose. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology*, 17(6), 435–447. https://doi.org/10.3109/10408419109115207.
 Carreira, P., Mendes, J. A. S., Trovatti, E., Serafin, L. S., Freire, C. S. R., Silvestre, A. J. D.,
- Carreira, P., Mendes, J.A. S., Trovatti, E., Serafin, L. S., Freire, C. S. R., Silvestre, A. J. D., et al. (2011). Utilization of residues from agro-forest industries in the production of high value bacterial cellulose. Bioresource Technology, 102(15), 7354-7360. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.04.081. Castro, C., Zuluaga, R., Putaux, J. L., Caro, G., Mondragon, I., & Gañán, P. (2011).
- Structural characterization of bacterial cellulose produced by *Gluconacetobacter* swingsii sp. from Colombian agroindustrial wastes. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 84(1), 96–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2010.10.072.
- Castro, C., Zuluaga, R., Álvarez, C., Putaux, J., Caro, G., Rojas, O. J., et al. (2012). Bacterial cellulose produced by a new acid-resistant strain of *Gluconacetobacter genus*. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 89(4), 1033–1037. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2012. 03.045
- Chen, L., Hong, F., Yang, X., & Han, S. (2013). Biotransformation of wheat straw to bacterial cellulose and its mechanism. *Bioresource Technology*, 135, 464–468. https:// loi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.10.029
- Cond. L. Wang, O., Hirth, K., Baez, C., Agarwal, U. P., & Zhu, J. Y. (2015). Tailoring the yield and characteristics of wood cellulose nanocrystals (CNC) using concentrated acid hydrolysis. *Cellulose*, 22(3), 1753–1762. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-015-0615
- Chen, L., Zhu, J. Y., Baez, C., Kitin, P., & Elder, T. (2016). Highly thermal-stable and functional cellulose nanocrystals and nanofibrils produced using fully recyclable organic acids. Green Chemistry, 18(13), 3835–3843. https://doi.org/10.1039/
- FAOSTAT (2016). Agricultural data. Food and agriculture organization of the United Nations
- http://fao.org/faostat/cs/#data/QC, Accessed 02.05.2018.
 Filho, G. R., de Assunção, R. M. N., Vieira, J. G., Meireles, C. S., Cerqueira, D. A., da Silva, B. H., et al. (2007). Characterization of methylcellulose produced from sugar cane bagasse cellulose: Crystallinity and thermal properties. Polymer Degradation and
- Stability, 92(2), 205–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2006.11.008.Flores-Córdova, M. A., Sánchez-Chávez, E., Chávez-Mendoza, C., García-Hernández, J. L., & Preciado-Rangel, P. (2016). Bioactive compounds and phytonutrients in edible part and nutshell of pecan (Carya illinoinensis). Cogent Food & Agriculture, 2, 1262936 https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.2016.1262936.
- Gea, S., Reynolds, C. T., Roohpour, N., Wirjosentono, B., Soykeabkaew, N., Bilotti, E., et al. (2011). Investigation into the structural, morphological, mechanical and thermal behaviour of bacterial cellulose after a two-step purification proces Bioresource Technology, 102, 9105-9110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011 04.07
- Gomes, P., Silva, N. H. C. S., Trovatti, E., Duarte, M. F., Silvestre, A. J. D., Pascoal, C., et al. (2013). Production of bacterial cellulose by Gluconacetobacter sacchari using dry olive mill residue. Biomass & Bioenergy, 5, 0-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioml
- Hilbig, J., Policarpi, P. B., Grinevicius, V. M. A. S., Mota, N. S. R. S., Toaldo, I. M., Luiz, M. T. B., et al. (2018). Aqueous extract from pecan nut [*Carya illinoinensis* (Wangenh) C. Koch] shell show activity against breast cancer cell line MCF-7 and Ehrlich ascites tumor in Balb-C mice. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 211, 256–266. https://doi.org/ 0.1016/i.jep.2017.08.012
- Hsieh, J. T., Wang, M. J., Lai, J. T., & Liu, H. S. (2016). A novel static cultivation of bacterial cellulose production by intermittent feeding strategy. Journal of the Taiwar Institute of Chemical Engineers, 63(6), 46-51, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtice.2016.03. 020.

- Hu, W., Chen, S., Yang, J., Li, Z., & Wang, H. (2014). Functionalized bacterial cellulose Hu, Yu, Gitzi, S., Tai, S., and Y., and Hung, T. (2017). Functionalized bacterial confider derivatives and nanocomposites. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 101(1), 1043–1060. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2013.09.102.
 Jiang, Z., Lu, A., Zhou, J., & Zhang, L. (2012). Interaction between–OH groups of me-
- thylcellulose and solvent in NaOH/urea aqueous system at low temperature. Cellulose, 19(3), 671–678. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-012-9669-5. Keshk, S. M. A. S. (2014). Vitamin C enhances bacterial cellulose production in
- Gluconacetobacter xylinus. Carbohydrate Polymers, 99, 98-100. https://doi.org/10. 09 060
- Kiziltas, E., Kiziltas, A., & Gardner, D. J. (2015). Synthesis of bacterial cellulose using hot water extracted wood sugars. Carbohydrate Polymers, 124, 131–138. https://doi. 10.1016/j.carbpol.2015.01.036.
- Li, Z., Wang, L., Hua, J., Jia, S., Zhang, J., & Liu, H. (2015). Production of nano bacterial cellulose from waste water of candied jujube-processing industry using Acetobacter xylinum. Carbohydrate Polymers, 120, 115–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.
- Lin, D., Lopez-Sanchez, P., Li, R., & Li, Z. (2014). Production of bacterial cellulose by Gluconacetobacter hansenii CGMCC 3917 using only waste beer yeast as nutrient source. Bioresource Technology, 151, 113–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortec
- Lin, S. P., Calvar, I. L., Catchmark, J. M., Liu, J. R., Demirci, A., & Cheng, K. C. (2013). Biosynthesis, production and applications of bacterial cellulose. *Cellulose, 20*(5), 2191-2219. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-013-9994-3
- López-Isunza, F., & Velasco-Bedrán, H. (2007). The unified metabolism of
- 42(8), 1180–1190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2007.05.017. Mohammadkazemi, F., Azin, M., & Ashori, A. (2015). Production of bacterial cellulose using different carbon sources and culture media. Carbohydrate Polymers, 117,
- 518-523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2014.10.008
- Pacheco, G., Nogueira, C. R., Meneguin, A. B., Trovatti, E., Silva, M. C. C., Machado, R. T. A., et al. (2017). Development and characterization of bacterial cellulose produced by cashew tree residues as alternative carbon source. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 107, 13-19, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2017.05.026.
- Prado, A. C. P., da Silveira, S. M., Barreto, P. L. M., Vieira, C. R. W., Maraschin, M., et al. (2014). Effect of the extraction process on the phenolic com pounds profile and the antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of extracts of pecan nut. Industrial Crops and Products, 52, 552-561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.inde op.2013
- Rani, M. U., & Appaiah, K. A. A. (2013). Production of bacterial cellulose by Gluconacetobacter hansenii UAC09 using coffee cherry husk. Journal of Food Science and Technology, 50(4), 755–762. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-011-0401-5.Ruka, D. R., Simon, G. P., & Dean, K. M. (2012). Altering the growth conditions of
- Gluconacetobacter xylinus to maximize the yield of bacterial cellulose. Carbohydrate
- Ontowards and a standard and and a standard and and and a standard and and a s fractometer. Textile Research Journal, 29(10), 786-794.

- Carbohydrate Polymers 207 (2019) 91-99
- Shi, Z., Zhang, Y., Phillips, G. O., & Yang, G. (2014). Utilization of bacterial cellulose in food. Food Hydrocolloids, 35, 539–545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2013.07.
- 012. Singh, R. K. (2013). Methylcellulose synthesis from corn cobs Study of the effect of solvent conditions on product properties by thermal analysis. Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry, 114(2), 809–819. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10973-013-3032-4.
 Somerville, C. (2006). Cellulose synthesis in higher plants. Annual Review of Cell and
- Developmental Biology, 22, 53-78. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.22.
- Trovatti, E., Serafim, L. S., Freire, C. S. R., Silvestre, A. J. D., & Neto, C. P. (2011). Gluconacetobacter sachari: An efficient bacterial cellulose cell-factory. Carbohydrate Polymers, 86(3), 1417–1420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2011.06.046.
 Viera, R. G. P., Rodrigues Filho, G., Assunção, R. M. N., Meireles, C. S., Vieira, J. G., &
- Oliveira, G. S. (2007). Synthesis and characterization of methylcellulose from sugar cane bagasse cellulose. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 67(2), 182–189. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.carbpol.2006.05.007.
- Vuoti, S., Talja, R., Johansson, L. S., Heikkinen, H., & Tammelin, T. (2013). Solvent Wu, J. M., & Liu, R. H. (2012). Thin stillage supplementation greatly enhances bacterial
- cellulose production by Gluconacetobacter xylinus. Carbohydrate Polymers, 90(1), 116-121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2012.05.003.
- Wu, G. L., Liu, Q. L., & Teixeira da Silva, J. A. (2009). Ultrastructure of pericarp and seed (a) G. L. Hu, C. K. R. Letter and M. J. F. Colleging and L. J. Colleging and Sca capsule cells in the developing walnut (Juglans regia L.) fruit. South African Journal of Borany, 75(1), 128–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2008.09.001.
 Yeasmin, M. S., & Mondal, M. I. H. (2015). Synthesis of highly substituted carboxymethyl
- cellulose depending on cellulose particle size. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 80, 725–731. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2015.07.040.
- Yim, S. M., Song, J. E., & Kim, H. R. (2017). Production and characterization of bacterial cellulose fabrics by nitrogen sources of tea and carbon sources of sugar. Process Biochemistry, 59(part A), 26–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2016.07.001. Yokota, S., Matsuyama, K., Kitaoka, T., & Wariishi, H. (2007). Thermally responsive
- wettability of self-assembled methylcellulose nanolavers. Applied Surface Science,
- Yucel, I., & Karabiyikil, S. (2011). Importance of acetic acid bacteria in food industry. Food Control, 22(5), 647–656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2010.11.008.
- Zhao, H., Xia, J., Wang, J., Yan, X., Wang, C., Lei, T., et al. (2018). Production of bacterial cellulose using polysaccharide fermentation wastewater as inexpensive nutrient sources. Biotechnology, Biotechnological Equipment, 32(2), 1-7. https://doi.org/10. 1080/13102818.2017 7.1418673.
- Zhou, X., Lin, X., White, K. L., Lin, S., Wu, H., Cao, S., et al. (2016). Effect of the degree of substitution on the hydrophobicity of acetylated cellulose for production of liquid marbles. Cellulose, 23(1), 811-821, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-015-085
- Zhou, J., Zhang, L., Deng, Q., & Wu, X. (2004). Synthesis and characterization of cellulose derivatives prepared in NaOH/urea aqueous solutions. *Journal of Polymer Science Part* A: Polymer Chemistry, 42(23), 5911-5920. https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.20431.

CAPÍTULO II

Microencapsulation of sardine oil by electrospray deposition with gliadin proteins and pecan nutshell extracts

R. F. Dórame-Miranda^a, N. Gámez-Meza^{b*}, J.M. Ezquerra-Brauer^a, L.Á. Medina-Juárez^b, J.L. Cárdenas-López^a, M. Ovando-Martínez^b, R. Ramírez-Bon^c, I. Santos-Sauceda^c, D. D. Castro-Enríquez^a, S.E. Burruel-Ibarra^d.

^a Departamento de Investigación y Posgrado en Alimentos, Universidad de Sonora, Blvd. Rosales y Luis Encinas s/n, Col. Centro, Hermosillo, Sonora, México. C.P. 83000.

^b Departamento de Investigaciones Científicas y Tecnológicas de la Universidad de Sonora, Blvd. Luis Donaldo Colosio s/n, Col. Centro, Hermosillo, Sonora, México. C.P. 8300.

^c Centro de Investigación y de Estudios Avanzados del IPN, Unidad Querétaro, Apdo. Postal 1-798, 76001, Querétaro, Querétaro, México.

^d Departamento de Investigación en Polímeros y Materiales, Universidad de Sonora, Blvd. Rosales y Luis Encinas s/n, Col. Centro, Hermosillo, Sonora, México. C.P. 83000.

*Correspondence to: (E-mail: <u>ngamez@guayacan.uson.mx</u>).

Highlights

Sardine oil microparticles with gliadin proteins as wall material and pecan nutshell extracts as antioxidants were obtained.

Optimal conditions to obtain sardine oil microparticles were determined.

The microparticles obtained showed a high encapsulation efficiency and oxidative stability.

Gliadin proteins and nutshell extracts are good sardine oil stabilizers.

Electrospray deposition is a good method to obtain sardine oil microparticles.

Abstract

Sardine oil (SO) was microencapsulated by electrospray deposition using gliadin proteins and pecan nutshell extracts as stabilizers. The diameter of the SO microparticles was optimized through the response surface methodology (RSM). The optimal conditions of the process to get microparticles with a spherical and smooth structure, and characteristics micrometric were obtained. The diameter of the microparticles was around 1.47 µm and the encapsulation efficiency was 98%, confirmed the presence of SO in the microparticles. Also, the physicochemical stabilization of the SO microparticles systems was investigated. FT-IR results showed interactions between SO and protein gliadins, these interactions could help oxidative stability of SO. The pecan nutshell extract prevented the lipid oxidation by the Rancimat test. The SO microparticles had greater oxidative stability compared to SO non-encapsulated. Overall results indicated SO microparticles obtained from gliadins and pecan nutshell extracts there are a good materials for stabilization of SO.

Keywords: Microencapsulation, Sardine oil, Electrospray deposition, Gliadins, Pecan nutshell, Optimization.

Introduction

Sardine oil (SO) is one of the major sources of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), specially eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA). Both EPA and DHA have been considered essential fatty acids associated with health benefits. Because SO had these compounds, SO can be used as a nutraceutical ingredient or in the development of functional foods in the pharmaceutical and food industries, respectively (Kadam & Prabhasankar, 2010; Calder, 2017). However, due to the high content of PUFAs SO has a low oxidative stability during the processing and storage. Therefore it is of great importance to increase the half-life of the sardine oil to maintain the nutritional properties

The most common methods for stabilization of the edible oil are refining techniques and the use of antioxidants (Carvajal, Mozuraityte, Standal, Storrø, & Aursand, 2014). The natural antioxidants have been used as an alternative of the synthetic antioxidants in the stabilization of

fish oil (Leonardis, Pizzella, & Macciola, 2008; Wang et. al., 2011; Rovira, Venskutonis, & Damas, 2011; Vaisali, Belur, & Regupathi, 2016;). Among them, catechin and quercetin have shown higher antioxidant activity in fish oils than other compounds (Vaisali, Belur, & Regupathi, 2016). Pecan nutshell (*Carya illinoinensis*), is a by-product generated from the nut industry, and is a rich source of catechins (Prado et. al., 2014; Hilbig et. al., 2018). Approximately, 460 x 10³ tons of pecan nutshell are generated worldwide, indicating that this by-product could be an alternative for the extraction of phenolic compounds and fiber (Dórame-Miranda et. al., 2019). The antioxidants obtained from pecan nutshell have not been used to stabilize the fish oil. Such application could be of interest to the fish oil industry.

Among other methods for stabilization of fish oil is the microencapsulation, which has the ability to increase the shelf-life (Bakry et. al., 2016). The preparation of microparticles requires a careful selection of the wall material to protect the compound of interest, PUFAs in this case. Different wall materials have been used for the microencapsulation of PUFAs, among them are the zein, prolamine, gelatin, pullulan, dextran, glucose syrup, poly (vinyl alcohol) (PVA), gum arabic and gliadins (Torres-Giner, Martinez-Abad, Ocio, & Lagaron, 2010; Moomand & Lim, 2014; Kaushik, Dowling, Barrow, & Adhikari, 2015). Gliadins are a sub-product of the wheat starch extraction for the production of bioethanol. Furthermore, gliadins are promising proteins in the production of microparticles because they are abundant and cheap compared to another proteins. Additionally, the use of gliadin proteins to encapsulate lipophilic compounds can improve the bioavailability of these compounds due to the bioadhesive capacity of these proteins in the gastric mucosa (Arangoa, Campanero, Renedo, Ponchel, & Irache, 2001).

On the other hand, there are a large number of methods used to obtain microparticles of fish oil. Spray dried, freeze dried, fluidized bed drying, extrusion, complex coacervation, electrospinning and electrospray deposition are some of them (Kaushik, Dowling, Barrow, & Adhikari, 2015). Electrospray deposition is a newfangled method, which presents high encapsulation efficiency and that not requires high temperatures during the processing of the materials (Torres-Giner, Martinez-Abad, Ocio, & Lagaron, 2010; Moomand & Lim, 2014; García-Moreno et. al., 2018; Tang et. al., 2019). In this method a thermodynamic instability in polymeric solutions with high-voltage supply is created. The liquid solution sprayed out from the metal nozzle forms a meniscus, which is elongated due to the electric field, and it is

disintegrated into droplets, easing the formation of smaller particles (Taylor cone). Before the formation of the small particles (Rayleigh disintegration or Coulomb fission), a high solvent evaporation and charge concentrations occurs; also, colloidal reactions occur within the solution. Finally, the droplets are solidified and the forms of the material obtained have a micro or nanoparticulate structure (Jaworek & Sobczyk, 2008; Xie, Jiang, Davoodi, Srinivasan, & Wang, 2015). Parameters such as the morphologic characteristics, encapsulation efficiency, and stability oxidative are greatly affected by the composition of the wall material core, viscosity, molecular weight, solvent system and conditions of the process (such as flow rate solution, applied voltage and distance between the needle and the collector plate). Many factors have been determined in the microencapsulation by electrospray; however, the conditions to obtain microparticles with an average diameter that allows the release of the compound encapsulated need to be studied (Jaworek & Sobczyk, 2008; Ghayempour & Mortazavi, 2013). According to Abyadeh, Aghajani, & Gohari (2018) the increment of the applied voltage and decrease of molecular weight of the cell wall material let the formation of small particles. Optimal conditions to obtain microparticles with different wall material depending of its application must be optimized.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to optimize the microencapsulation process of SO by electrospray deposition with gliadin proteins as wall material and pecan nutshell extracts as antioxidant. In addition, the physical and chemical properties of the microencapsulated SO were evaluated. Such information will be useful to give an added value to by-products generated by the fish, pecan nut, and bioethanol industries.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Samples

Sardine oil (*Sardinops sagax caerulea*) by the group Guaymex, S.A. de C.V., Mexico was provided. Wheat Gluten (WG) proteins were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Company (St. Louis, MO), and the gliadins fraction was extracted from WG. Pecan nutshell (*Carya illinoinensis*) by the group Alta, S.A. de C.V., Mexico was supplied.

2.2. Chemicals

2,2'-azinobis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6 sulfonic acid) (ABTS), 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), 2,4,6-tris(2-pyridyl)-s-triazine (TPTZ) and TEAC (Trolox Equivalent Antioxidant Capacity), were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. All the other chemicals used were of analytical grade.

2.3. Preparation of phenolic extracts from pecan nutshell

The pecan nutshell (*Carya illinoinensis*) was ground in a Wiley mill (Thomas-Wiley Laboratory Mill Model 4) to a particle size up to 50 microns. The powder was keep in amber bottles at -20 °C in the absence of light. Ultrasonic-assisted treatment described by Liu, Wei, & Liao, (2013) for the extraction of pecan nutshell phenolic compounds was used. The sample (1 g) was mixed with 30 mL of 60% (v/v) ethanol using a vortex. Subsequently, the homogenate was subjected to ultrasonic movements (21 min) (Branson Sonicador, model 1510, USA) and centrifuged (3000 g, 4°C, 15 min). The supernatant was mixed and filtered with Whatman No. 4 paper. The extract was rotaevaporated and freeze-dried. The extract powder was stored at -20°C until further analysis.

2.3.1. Antioxidant capacity

Antioxidant capacity of pecan nutshell extracts was estimated using the radical scavenging reaction system with DPPH• and ABTS•+ radicals. The dry extract (0.1 mg mL⁻¹) was dissolved with 60% ethanol.

2.3.1.1. ABTS++ method

The Trolox equivalents of antioxidant capacity (TEAC) value was determined according to Re et. al. (1999). The methodology is based on the ability of antioxidants present in an extract to inactivate the radical ABTS•+ (2,2'-azino-bis 3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulfonic acid). The reaction was carried out using 280 μ L of radical ABTS•+ with 20 μ L of extract. The reaction was allowed to stand during 7 min in darkness, and the radical reduction was monitored at a wavelength of 734 nm in a 96-well microplate reader (VeloskanTM LUX multimode microplate reader, Thermo Scientific, USA). The antioxidant capacity was expressed as micromoles of Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity per gram of extract (µmol of TEAC/g of extract).

2.3.1.2. DPPH• method

The ability of the extracts to inactivate the stable radical DPPH • was calculated according to Palafox-Carlos, Yahia, & González-aguilar (2012) with some modifications. The reaction was carried out with 280 μ L of radical DPPH• and 20 μ L of sample. The reaction was allowed to stand for 30 min in the dark. The absorbance of the samples was read at 515 nm in a microplate reader using a 96-well microplate (Veloskan TM LUX multimode microplate reader, Thermo Scientific, USA). The antioxidant capacity was expressed in terms of the concentration as μ mol of TEAC/g of extract.

2.3.1.3. FRAP method

The FRAP test was carried out using the method of Benzie & Strain (1996) with some modifications. This method is based in the increase of the absorbance of the reaction sample due to the formation of the complex 2,4,6-tripyridyl-s-triazine (TPTZ) -Fe (II) in the presence of reducing agents. The FRAP reagent was prepared mixing 10 μ M TPTZ, 40 mM HCl, 20 μ M FeCl3, and 300 μ M acetate buffer. An aliquot of sample (20 μ L) was placed in each well in a microplate and mixed with 280 μ L of FRAP solution. The samples were incubated at room temperature in the dark for 30 min and the absorbance was measured at 630 nm in a microplate reader. The results were reported as μ mol of TEAC/g of extract.

2.4. Preparation of gliadins and sardine oil solutions

Samples were prepared according to th following procedure: gliadin solutions at 6%, 7%, and 8% (w/w) were dissolved in 70% aqueous ethanol with continuous stirring during 30 min at room temperature and used as a control samples. Same gliadin solutions were prepared, but in this case 30% (w/w) SO was added respect to the concentration of the gliadin solution. The gliadin solution was mixed with the SO during 15 min at room temperature under dark conditions. From the gliadin solutions with SO, the concentration with better morphology and average diameter was chosen. The gliadin concentration with an adequate average diameter and morphology was selected to obtain the microparticles at optimal conditions (kV, cm). Finally, microparticles with SO and pecan nutshell extract (150 ppm in ethanol) at the optimal conditions were obtained. The concentration of pecan nutshell extracts was chosen based on previous results of SO oxidative stability with different concentration of pecan nutshell extracts.

2.4.1. Physicochemical characterization of solutions for obtained of microparticles

2.4.1.1. Viscosity assay

The viscosity assay was realized according to Nielsen, Horn, & Jacobsen (2013) with modifications. Viscosity measurements were obtained using a rotational viscometer (Brookfield DV-II + Pro Viscometer, mode LVF, USA) with a concentric cylinder geometry. A constant shear rate of 100 s⁻¹ at 25 °C was used. The viscosity was recorded during 1 min after starting the measurement. Determinations were made in triplicate.

2.4.1.2. Zeta potential

The gliadins and sardine oil solutions were transferred to a capillary cells for measurement at ambient temperature in a zetasizer nano ZS (Malvern Instruments, UK). For zeta potential measurements, the values were obtained using the Smoluchowsky mathematical model (Nielsen, Horn, & Jacobsen, 2013).

2.5. Sardine oil microparticles by electrospray deposition

The solutions obtained previously were transferred into a plastic syringe with a 5 mL capacity to later take it to the electrospray equipment. The flow rate was controlled using a dual syringe pump (KDS 200, KD Scientific, USA), and the voltage (kV) was applied using a high-voltage power supply (Spellman/Bertan 230-01R, USA). The microparticles formed were collected with an aluminum plate (Figure 1). The variables and operation parameters to optimize the average diameter of the SO microparticles for the RSM are presented in Table 1. The voltage (kV) and distance between the needle and the collector plate (cm) were the independent variables. These variables are of great importance for the formation of SO microparticles. It is worth to mention that the effect of the gliadins viscosity with sardine oil solutions was evaluated in the microparticles formation.



Fig. 1. Schematic diagram of the fabrication of microparticles by electrospray deposition.

2.6. Characterization of microparticles of sardine oil

2.6.1. Morphological characteristics of SO microparticles

Micrographs of SO microparticles were obtained with a scanning electron microscopy (SEM) equipment (XL 30 ESEM Phillips operating at 20 kV at high vacuum), and were used to analyze the microstructure. Samples were prepared in a coal tape and coated with gold under high-vacuum conditions. The average diameter distribution of the microparticles was determined by measuring 100 particles in 5 different fields using the Image J 1.50i (National Institutes of Health, USA) software.

2.6.2. Encapsulation efficiency and loading capacity

The encapsulation efficiency (EE) and loading capacity (LC) were determined as described previously by Moomand & Lim (2014) with some modifications. The microparticles (100 mg)

were submerging in hexane (8 mL) for 30 s to remove the unencapsulated surface oil. The supernatant was filtered on filter paper (Whatman No. 4), and the absorbances of the solutions were measured using a UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Varian Cary 100 Bio, USA) at 320 nm. A calibration curve was used to determine the amount of SO microencapsulated. The EE and LC values were calculated with the following equations:

$$EE = \frac{A-B}{C} * 100 (1)$$
$$LC = \frac{A-B}{A} * 100 (2)$$

Where:

A: the total theoretical amount of SO, B: the free amount of SO in the sample, and C: the weight of the microparticles.

2.6.3. Oxidative stability

The oxidative stability test of the SO, SO with antioxidant (150, 300 and 500 ppm), optimized microparticles and microparticles with antioxidant (150 ppm) was determined using the Rancimat equipment (model 743, Metrohm, Herisau, Switzerland). The method consisted in heat at 65° C 2 mL of liquid samples or 1.5 g microparticles powder, maintaining a flow rate of 20 L h-1. The oxidative stability index (OSI) value of the samples was determined according to the conductivity slope and time observed in the graphic generated by the Rancimat equipment

2.6.4. ATR-FTIR spectroscopy

The SO, gliadins, antioxidants and microparticles were analyzed using the ATR-FTIR spectrometer (FT-IR Spectrum GX, Perkin-Elmxxer, USA) with an average of 64 scans, over a spectral range of 4000–600 cm⁻¹, with a resolution of 4 cm⁻¹.

2.7. Experimental design

Response surface methodology (RSM) was employed to optimize the operating parameters. The applied voltage (X_1) and distance between the needle and the collector plate (X_2) , were the independent variables. The Table 1 shows the independent variables and their coded and uncoded levels. The average diameter of SO microparticles (Y) was used as response variable in the design experiment (Table 3). The microencapsulation by electrospray was performed using a two central composite design, with 20 total runs. The model proposed for the response was fitted to a second-order equation (3), using a SAS JMP software, version 8 (SAS, Cary, NC, USA).

 $Y = \alpha 0 + \Sigma \alpha i X i + \Sigma \alpha i i X 2 i + \Sigma \alpha i j X i X j + \varepsilon (3)$

Where: $\alpha 0$, αi , $\alpha i i$, and $\alpha i j$: the intercept and the linear, quadratic, and interaction coefficients respectively. The residual is denoted as ε .

Table 1. Independent variables and their levels used in experimental design

Independent variables		Levels	
	-1	0	1
Applied voltage (X ₁)	15	17.5	20
Distance between the needle and the collector plate (X_2)	10	15	20

2.8. Statistical analysis

The antioxidant capacity assay, phenol content, EE, LC and oxidative stability were expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation, n=3 using SAS JMP software, version 8 (SAS, Cary, NC, USA). For the effect of the viscosity, zeta potential and average diameter an analysis of variance was used (ANOVA). The differences between means were evaluated by Tukey's test (p < 0.05). For the microparticles of sardine oil process a two factor central composite optimization design was used.

Results and discussion

Antioxidant capacity of pecan nutshell extracts

The results showed that total phenolic compounds and flavonoid content were high in the extract. The total phenols were expressed as mg/g gallic acid equivalents, and for flavonoids cathequin as a standard compound was used. The phenolic content was found in the pecan nutshell extract was of 547.27 ± 2.30 mg/g and for flavonoids was of 179.06 ± 1.64 mg/g (Fig. 2). The higher the total phenolic content in the extracts, were the higher the antioxidant assay by ABTS, DPPH and FRAP values (Noreen, Semmar, Farman, & McCullagh, 2017).

The pecan nutshell extracts have high content of catechins, which are an powerful antioxidant for the stabilization de fish oil (Hilbig et. al., 2018; Vaisali, Belur, & Regupathi, 2016). The sardine oils may be stabilized for these compounds across of donation of a hydrogen atom from a hydroxyl group attached to the aromatic ring to the chemically unstable molecules, electron donating groups and through the metal chelating ability. The metal chelating potential is due the proximity of the hydroxyl groups localized in the B-ring in flavonoids; also, a factor of more important in the antioxidant activity is the effect of structure on the antioxidant activity. Moreover, the phenolic compounds have the ability of inhibiting the action of enzymes such as lipoxygenase that they relate to oxidative changes in fats and oils (Prado et. al., 2014).

The use of phenolic compounds for stabilizing polyunsaturated fatty acids has been reported (Vaisali, Belur, & Regupathi, 2016). However, to our knowledge, recently, there is a lack of information about the application of phenolic compounds extracted from pecan nutshell in the stabilization of marine oils, or used as antioxidant material in microencapsulation systems. Due to the high content of phenolic and flavonoids compounds (Fig. 2), pecan nutshell extracts could be an option for stabilization of PUFAs. The pecan nutshell extracts have high content of catechins, which are a powerful antioxidant for the fish oil stabilization (Vaisali, Belur, & Regupathi, 2016; Hilbig et. al., 2018; Estrada-Flores et. al., 2019). The SO may be is stabilized for this compounds through the donation of an hydrogen atoms from an hydroxyl group attached to the aromatic ring, by the electron donation, or the metal chelating ability of the antioxidant. Moreover, the phenolic compounds have the ability to inhibit the action of enzymes such as
lipoxygenase, relate to oxidative changes in fats and oils (Prado et. al., 2014). Recently, (Rovira Venskutonis, & Damas, 2011) evaluated the effect of garden strawberry leaf extracts on the shelf life and end quality characteristics of fish oil. The extract efficiently retarded fish oil oxidation, particularly when was applied at the concentration of 5%. The results indicate that pecan nutshell as strawberry leaves could be a potential source of natural antioxidants used in the stabilization of SO because of its antioxidant properties (Fig 2).



Fig. 2. Natural antioxidants of pecan nutshell extract. a) Total phenols and flavonoids content, a)

antioxidant capacity using different method: ABTS, DPPH and FRAP.

Physicochemical properties of solutions

In this work, the effect of the gliadins viscosity in aqueous ethanol on the formed microparticles was studied. Table 2 shows the viscosity of gliadin solutions without and with SO. In general, the viscosity increased with the increase of the gliadins concentrations. Same trend was observed in gliadin solutions with SO, but the viscosity was higher and showed significant differences that those ones without SO (Table 2). Both gliadin solutions without and with SO were used to obtain the microparticles by electrospray deposition and observed their morphology and measure their average diameter (Fig. 3). Figure 3a-c shows the effect of the concentration and viscosity on the microparticles formed, where it is observed that gliadin microparticles had a broad size distribution, flat globular shape and wrinkle surface. The average

diameter was around 0.183, 0.652 and 1.00 μ m for 6, 7 and 8% (w/w) gliadin concentration, respectively. Respect to the gliadin microparticles at 6, 7 and 8% with SO, the viscosity values resulted in microparticles with an average diameter of 0.564, 0.999, and 0.957 μ m, respectively (Fig. 3 d-f). After the addition of SO, the microparticles presented a more spherical morphology, broad size distribution and smooth surface. From all the gliadin solutions, the one at 7 % (w/w) showed higher number of particles with spherical shape and few particles with wrinkle surface (Fig. 3e). Comparing the average diameter with of all the solutions, only the gliadin solution at 6% without SO, presented significant differences. However, the solution at 7 % showed more spherical microparticles. For this reason, this solution was chosen as the concentration for the optimization process. An important factor in the preparation of nano and microparticles by electrospray deposition is the selection of the solvent and the polymer concentration. The polymer concentration is directly related to the viscosity; then when the viscosity of the solution is low, microparticles of gliadins are obtained. On the other hand, the use of polymers with high concentration allows the formation of nanofibers with different morphology (Jaworek & Sobczyk, 2008; Xu et. al., 2017).

Fig. 1 shows the schematic diagram of the microparticles formation by electrospray deposition. First, a strong electric field is applied to the solution to generate a charge on the surface and a thermodynamic instability in the polymeric solution. Due to the high voltage and low fluid flow rate applied, the solution assumes a conical shape (Taylor cone). The viscosity is related with the Taylor cone stability, which in turn is related with morphology of the particles formed (size and form) (Liu, Zhang, Yu, Wu, & Li, 2018; Yang, Zhang, Liu, Wang, & Yu, 2018). Therefore, when the viscosity of the solution increase, particles of major average diameter are obtained, but when the viscosity is low, smaller particles are formed (Ghayempour & Mortazavi, 2013). Apart from the viscosity, the zeta potential value is another relevant parameter to take into account in the electrospray deposition in this experiment. According to Table 2 the gliadin solutions showed a positive charge around 6.08-11.90 mV, and as the concentration increases there is an increase in the zeta potential (Table 3). These zeta potential values could be related to the amino groups linked to the carboxylate groups on the surface of the proteins (Wang, Adhikari, & Barrow, 2014). Thus, the positive charge can be a determining factor for the formation of microparticles.

Gulfam et. al. (2012) synthesized gliadin and gliadin-gelatin composite nanoparticles for the delivery and controlled release of an anticancer drug. The gliadin solution used was at 7% and dissolved in 70% ethanol. The nanoparticles presented an average diameter of 218.66 nm, greater than the value reported in this study. These differences maybe are due to the applied voltage and low flow rate variables used in the electrospray deposition. For this reason, it is very important to find the optimal conditions of the process to get microparticles with an optimized average diameter.



Fig. 3. SEM images of gliadin microparticles without and with SO. Microparticles from a Gliadin concentration of a) 6% (w/w), b) 7% w/w and c) 8% w/w without SO. Microparticles from gliadin concentration at d) 6% w/w, e) 7% w/w and f) 8% w/w with 30% (w/w) SO. Microparticles were obtained using these parameters: 15 kV voltage, 20 cm distance and 0.3 mL/h flow rate.

Gliadins solutions	Sardine oil (% w/w)	Viscosity (cP)	Zeta potential (mV)	Average diameter (µm)
(% w/w)				
6	0	5.09 ± 0.01^{a}	$6.08\pm0.63^{\text{a}}$	0.183 ± 0.05^a
6	30	5.22 ± 0.03^{b}	6.67 ± 0.26^{a}	$0.564 \pm 0.169^{a,b}$
7	0	6.06 ± 0.03^{c}	$7.72\pm1.79^{\text{a}}$	$0.652\pm0.211^{a,b}$
7	30	6.41 ± 0.06^{d}	$8.56\pm0.45^{a,b}$	0.999 ± 0.307^{b}
8	0	$6.69\pm0.03^{\rm f}$	$10.49 \pm 1.25^{\text{b,c}}$	1.00 ± 0.262^{b}
8	30	$7.03\pm\ 0.04^g$	11.90 ± 0.60^{c}	$\pm 0.205^{b}$

Table 2. Effect of the viscosity, zeta potential and average diameter on concentrations

 of gliadin solutions used in electrospray deposition.

*Value with different lowercase letters in one row are significantly different (p < 0.05).

Microencapsulation of sardine oil

A central composite design was applied to evaluate the effect on the variation of average diameter respect to the operating parameters in electrospray deposition including voltage (kV) and tip-to-collection plate distances (cm) (Table 3). The model applied for microencapsulation of SO showed significant differences in the average diameter (P < 0.0001), with a R2 = 0.9147 and R2adjusted = 0.8842. These results showed that only 8.5284 % of the total variations by the model are not explained (Table 4). The relationship with the adjusted determination coefficient (R2adjusted) and determination coefficient (R2) should be close for have a good statistical model. In Table 4, the difference between R2adjusted respects to R2 is from 0.005, value that is very close to R2. This confirms that the model is highly significant. The analysis ANOVA indicated that the model was adequate to describe the influence of the variables studied (Table 4). The experimental results showed a lack of fit value of 0.2217, which indicate than the model

is adequate to explain the experimental data. When the p-value is smaller than greater F-value indicates that the model is significant and could be used to optimize the microencapsulation process.

Fig. 4 shows the surface response plot (a) and the contour plot (b), representing the relationship between dependent and independent variables. The elliptical contour shapes indicated that interactions between the variables were significant (Liu, Wei, & Liao, 2013). It was observed the average diameter of microparticles increased rapidly with effect of the applied voltage (X1), however, the distance between the needle and the collector plate (X2) did not showed significant differences (15 kV and 10 cm), respectively (Fig. 4a). The characteristics morphological and surface of microparticles with SO under optimized conditions were analyzed with a SEM. The optimal conditions for microencapsulation of SO with average diameter are predicted as 1.4775 µm, using 13.91 kV and 8.3658 cm, respectively. Under these conditions, the experimental average diameter is around 1.473 µm, which is well close with the predicted value mentioned above. The difference in the average diameter could be due to the different fields analyzed or by the others variables effect of the gliadin-SO interactions such as molecular weight, viscosity, surface tension, humidity and temperature in gliadins and gliadin-SO. A previous study has found that increasing voltage applied, the size of the nanoparticles decreases (Abyadeh, Aghajani, & Gohari, 2018). The smaller microparticles were obtained from high voltage, due to the formation of a stable and most uniform cone jet mode, also to increased surface charges on polymer jets (Coulomb force).

Run	Independent variable	s	
	Applied voltage (X1) Distance (X2)		Experimental
			Average diameter (µm)
1	15	10	1.4795
2	15	20	1.1897
3	20	10	1.0682

 Table 3. Experimental design matrix with results.

4	20	20	1.2667
5	15	15	1.3964
6	20	15	1.3088
7	17.5	10	1.3798
8	17.5	20	1.3340
9	17.5	15	1.4539
10	17.5	15	1.4582
11	15	10	1.4691
12	15	20	1.2169
13	20	10	1.0693
14	20	20	1.2806
15	15	15	1.4111
16	20	15	1.2941
17	17.5	10	1.3746
18	17.5	20	1.3636
19	17.5	15	1.3472
20	17.5	15	1.3269

Table 4. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) of the predicted quadratic model to the responses total and regression coefficients calculated.

Source	Sum	of Degree	Mean	F-value	p-Value
	squares	of	square		(Prob. > F)
		freedom	L		
Model	0.2432	5	0.0487	29.5468	<0.0001*
(A) Applied	0.0637	1		38.6537	<0.0001*
voltaje (kV)					
(B) Distance (cm)	0.0029	1		1.8007	0.2010
AB	0.1132	1		68.6135	< 0.0001*
A^2	0.0302	1		18.3567	0.0008*
B^2	0.0229	1		13.9090	0.0022*
Lack of fit	0.0075	3	0.0025	1.7764	Prob. > F
					0.2097
Pure error	0.0155	11	0.0014		
Total error	0.0231	14			
R ² 0.9134					
\mathbf{R}^2 adjusted 0.8825					

*Significant parameters of the model (p < 0.05).



Fig. 4. Surface response plot (a) and the contour plot (b) showing effect of applied voltage (X_1) and distance between the needle and the collector plate (X_2) in the microencapsulation of sardine oil.

Encapsulation efficiency and loading capacity

The encapsulation efficiency (EE) and loading capacity (LC) was determined to assess the quality of microencapsulated SO. The SO microparticles under optimized conditions showed an EE of 98.68% and LC of 26.11%. It has been reported the content of residual oils on the surface of the microcapsules have a negative effect on the oxidative stability. Then these conditions should be important during oil encapsulation. In addition to the SO microparticles formed, pecan nutshell extracts (150 ppm) were evaluated too under optimized conditions, and their EE and LC was determined and depicted in Fig. 5 These extracts were incorporate to the SO and used as natural antioxidants to decrease or avoid the oxidation of lipids. The SO microparticles with antioxidants showed high EE and LC without any significant differences (p > 0.05) under optimized conditions. The high EE it is the result of migration of SO towards the core of the

ethanol-based microparticles as a result of phase separation occurred during the electrospray deposition. The lipids migrate towards the core due to the low boiling point of ethanol in contrast with water. So, the solvent in the surface decreases and causes the lipid migration towards the core. Also, the lipids migration could produce interactions between the protein and lipid molecules, and increase the SO oxidative stability (Moomand & Lim, 2014). Additionally, the SO interactions with non-polar regions on the protein surface across hydrophobic attraction undergo conformational changes in the protein, which increase their concentration at the core. The analysis of SEM confirms this theory because not SO was found on the surface of the microparticles.

There is a lot of research about the low stability of PUFAs, and their susceptibility to oxidation by environmental factors. However, the microencapsulation of PUFAs with natural antioxidants would help to protect PUFAs stability (Liu et. al., 2016; Pourashouri & Shabanpour, 2014). These results indicated that SO was well encapsulated and can be protected against adverse factors.



Fig. 5. Encapsulation efficiency (EE) and loading capacity (LC) of microparticles of SO under

optimized conditions. Values with different letters in the bars are significantly different (p<0.05).

Characterization of optimized SO microparticles

The size and outer morphology of the optimized particles powder by SEM was verified (Fig. 6). The microparticles obtained under optimal conditions were spherical, with smooth surface and some with dented surfaces, and polydispersed. The average diameter of spherical structures was $1.473 \,\mu m$. The morphology o the microparticles it is important to prevent the SO oxidation and controlled release of it in the gastrointestinal tract. The dented surface occurs during the drying process or high temperature. As well this effect could be attribute to the conductivity, surface tension, concentration of polymers, viscosity of the polymer solution and applied voltage. These parameters have a high influence on the electrospray process and the particles generated (e.g. morphology and stability of Taylor cone). Gomez-Estaca, Balaguer, Gavara, & Hernandez-Munoz (2012) investigated the effects of key parameters on the process of electrospray (polymer concentration, flow rate and applied voltage) using zein protein polymer. The most important data generated by the authors indicate that low concentration and viscosity of the zein solution resulted in an increase of the droplet formation, particles of greater size and non-spherical morphologies. This information can be related to the structures observed in this study. When low viscosities were tested, particles of greater size and non-spherical morphologies were obtained.

The molecular weight profile of a polymer is also an important factor that must be known before undertaking an electrospray process. Polymers with low molecular weight lead to the formation of particles and debris, whereas high molecular weight polymers allows the formation of a great number of entanglements and the formation of fibers (Balaguer & Gavara, 2012). Gliadins are proteins with a molecular weight (MW) between 30-80 kDa. They can be easily extracted from wheat gluten using 70% (w/w) aqueous ethanol. These proteins are composed of three structurally different subclasses: ω -, α + β -, and γ -gliadins (Joye, Davidov-pardo, Ludescher, & Mcclements, 2015). In addition, as showed in the gel electrophoresis (Lane A, B and C, Fig. S1), wheat gluten proteins mainly consisted of low molecular weight glutenins (LMW-GS) and high molecular weight glutenins (HMW-GS), also of all different subclasses of gliadins. In contrast with gliadins extract, these presented three subclasses of $\alpha+\beta$ -, and γ -gliadins and LMW-GS (less than 50 kDa) proteins. In the case of SO microparticles, a similarly molecular weight in comparison to gliadins was observed (Lane B, Fig. S1). The gliadins used in this work presented a molecular weight of 30-66 kDa (Fig. S1). During the gliadins extraction others type of proteins as high molecular weight glutenins (HMW-GS) and ω -gliadins were removed. This phenomenon suggested that the network of wheat gluten was disrupted during the extraction process and less entangled structure was formed (Liao, Luo, Zhao, & Wang, 2012).

Oxidative stability.

The oxidative stability index (OSI) value was determined by locating rapid change in the slope of the conductivity versus time curve. The OSI values for SO are presented in Table 5.The SO without antioxidant presented a OSI value around 9.48 h. When the antioxidants of pecan nutshell extract (150, 300 and 500 ppm) were added to the SO, the OSI value increased significantly (P > 0.05). Antioxidants at concentrations of 150 and 300 ppm did not showed significant differences, however, at 500 ppm of the antioxidants, significant differences were observed compared to the SO without antioxidants. The natural antioxidants of pecan nutshell extracts had a positive effect on the stabilization of the PUFAs presented in the SO. In this study, the most abundant fatty acids found in SO were palmitic acid, oleic acid, eicosapentaenoico acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA). The DHA and EPA accounted for 82.74 % of the total PUFAs (Table S1). It is good to mention due that catechin in the major antioxidant presented in pecan nutshell extract, the catechin effect on SO oxidative stability was tested to a concentration of 150 ppm. The OSI value detected with such compound was around 16.83 h, greater than that obtained for SO with antioxidants from the pecan nutshell extract.



Fig. 6. Microparticles of SO under optimized conditions. SEM images of microparticles at 10,000 (a),

25,000X (b), and frequency histogram of particle size (c).

On the other hand, the oxidative stability of microparticles was higher than that of untreated SO. The microparticles under optimized conditions were more stable to oxidation (OSI = >48 h), but there were no observed significant differences (p > 0.05) respect to the SO microparticles with antioxidants (Table 5). The use of electrospray deposition helps to obtain microparticles with smooth surface structure according to SEM images. This smooth structures are very important for the prevention of the inward oxygen diffusion and better protection of the encapsulated SO. In other microencapsulation methods such as spray drying highly porous structure have been

reported due to the shell rupture of the microcapsules and porous structure. The oxidative stability index reported for spray drying solid microcapsules was between 22.10-26.75 h. These values are low compared with those for electrospray deposition (Carvalho, Silva, & Hubinger, 2014; Eratte, Wang, Dowling, Barrow, & Adhikari, 2014). According to the results, the use of electrospray deposition to microencapsulate SO with antioxidants resulted in good OSI values due to the high stability of the SO to the temperature tested.

Table 5. Oxidative stability index of SO and microparticles without and with antioxidants by

 the

Samples	Oxidative stability index (h)
SO	9.48 ± 0.028^{a}
SO + 150 ppm of antioxidant*	12.34 ± 0.138^b
SO + 300 ppm of antioxidant*	12.20 ± 0.100^{b}
SO + 500 ppm of antioxidant*	$13.133 \pm 0.152^{\circ}$
Microparticles under optimized conditions	> 48 ^d
Microparticles with antioxidant*	$> 48^{d}$

Rancimat method at 65 °C.

* Pecan nutshell extract as natural antioxidant. Parts per million (ppm).

**Values are the mean \pm standard deviation, n=3. Values in the same column with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05).

ATR-FTIR spectroscopy.

The ATR-FTIR spectra of SO showed two main peaks (Fig. 7). The first one was at ~3011 cm⁻¹, which is related to the vibration of C–H stretching of *cis*-alkene –HC=CH– of the PUFAs. The second peak was at 1743 cm⁻¹ and correspond to the vibration of group C=O, primarily from lipids and fatty acids. Besides, peaks at 2960, 2923 and 2853 cm⁻¹ were observed, and they are related to the asymmetrical stretch of (C–H) from methyl (–CH3), asymmetrical stretch of group

(C–H) from methylene (–CH2) and symmetrical stretch of group (C–H) from methylene (–CH2) of lipids (Vongsvivut et. al., 2012). The peaks at ~3011 and 1743 cm⁻¹, have been related to high content of DHA and EPA in marine oils. The band at 1145 cm⁻¹ in spectra of the SO have been linked to the presence of EPA and DHA in free form (Liao, Luo, Zhao, & Wang, 2012). The high content of EPA and DHA is consistent with the values obtained from quantification in gas chromatography (Table 2).

In Fig. 7 the three main peaks at 3293, 1650 and 1545 cm^{-1} were observed for gliadins spectra. These peaks correspond to the O–H vibration of water absorbed, stretching vibration of (C=O) associated with proteins (amide I band), whereas the latter one was attributed to bending vibration of (N-H) associated with proteins (amide II band) (Balaguer et. al., 2013; Liao, Luo, Zhao, & Wang, 2012). The antioxidants obtained from the pecan nutshell extracts also were analyzed by ATR-FTIR. The antioxidants showed similar spectra with other reported by other authors (Prado et. al., 2014). The peaks at ~3293, 1650 and 1145 cm⁻¹ have been related to stretch of vibration of O–H group, assigned with the vibration of group C=O and which are related to C=C (aromatic ring) and C=O bonds (pyranose heterocyclic chain). After the electrospray deposition method, the peaks at 3011 and 1743 cm⁻¹ are present in both treatments, suggesting that SO is present in microparticles. Besides, the displacement of amide I band indicate the formation of new chemical interactions as hydrogen bonds, electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions (Moomand & Lim, 2015; Yang et. al., 2017). The factors as the heating due at high voltaje or an molecular rearrangement, could modify the structure of proteins and change the position of functional groups such as C=O, N-H, hydrophobic groups and chain polar. These groups that are engaged in intramolecular hydrogen bonding and electrostatic interactions, accordingly, these functional groups become available for further intermolecular interaction. Also, the unfolded proteins chains they have higher possibility to form intermolecular interactions, leading to the formation of a network that acts as the matrix for entrapping bioactive components. The β -sheet structure has been seen that intervened in the intermolecular hydrogen bondingand could be the cause of these structures (Guerrero, Kerry, & de la Caba, 2014). These chemical interactions could have a positive effect on the OSI values, and improve the shelf life of the SO.



Fig. 7. ATR-FTIR spectra of SO, gliadins, antioxidant, microparticles of SO in optimized conditions and microparticles of SO with antioxidants.

Conclusions

The microparticles of SO obtained by electrospray deposition with gliadin proteins and pecan nutshell extracts were polydispersed and presented a spherical structure and smooth surface. The gliadin proteins can be used as a wall material to microencapsulate SO and improve its chemical stability. The antioxidant properties of pecan nutshell extracts can be an option for the stabilization of SO. The physicochemical characteristics of microencapsulate SO are important to improve the OSI index of SO. The FTIR spectra evidenced that SO was encapsulated into microparticles through interactions the SO, antioxidants, and gliadins. Finally, the optimal operating conditions to obtain microencapsulated SO with average diameter and physicochemical properties adequate were obtained.

Acknowledgement

Thanks CONACYT (Mexico) and the University of Sonora for financial support. Ramón Dórame-Miranda is grateful to CONACYT for the scholarship.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare they have no conflict of interest.

References

American Oil Chemists' Society (2009). AOCS, Official Methods and Recommended Practices of the American Oil Chemists' Societ (6th edn.). AOCS Press, Urbana, IL.

Abyadeh, M., Aghajani, M., & Gohari, A. (2018). Preparation and Optimization of Chitosan / pDNA Nanoparticles Using Electrospray. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *India Section B: Biological Sciences*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40011-018-1009-6

Arangoa, M. A., Campanero, M. A., Renedo, M. J., Ponchel, G., & Irache, J. M. (2001). Gliadin nanoparticles as carriers for the oral administration of lipophilic drugs. Relationships between bioadhesion and pharmacokinetics. *Pharmaceutical Research*, *18*(11), 1521–1527. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1013018111829

Bakry, A. M., Abbas, S., Ali, B., Majeed, H., Abouelwafa, M. Y., Mousa, A., & Liang, L. (2016). Microencapsulation of oils: a comprehensive review of benefits, techniques, and applications. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 15(1), 143–182. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12179

Balaguer, M P, & Gavara, R. (2012). Formation of zein nanoparticles by electrohydrodynamic atomization : Effect of the main processing variables and suitability for encapsulating the food

coloring and active ingredient curcumin. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 28(1), 82–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2011.11.013

Balaguer, M. P., Borne, M., Chalier, P., Gontard, N., Morel, M., Peyron, S., Gavara, R., & Hernandez-Munoz, P. (2013). Retention and Release of Cinnamaldehyde from Wheat Protein Matrices. *Biomacromolecules*, *14*(*5*), 1493–1502. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm400158t

Benzie, I. F. F., & Strain, J. J. (1996). The Ferric Reducing Ability of Plasma (FRAP) as a Measure of "'Antioxidant Power ": The FRAP Assay. *Analytical biochemistry*, *239*(*1*), 70–76. https://doi.org/10.1006/abio.1996.0292

Carvajal, A. K., Mozuraityte, R., Standal, I. B., Storrø, I., & Aursand, M. (2014). Antioxidants in fish oil production for improved quality. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, *91*(9), 1611–1621. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11746-014-2508-0

Carvalho, A. G. S., Silva, V. M., & Hubinger, M. D. (2014). Microencapsulation by spray drying of emulsi fi ed green coffee oil with two-layered membranes. *FRIN*, *61*, 236–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2013.08.012

Dórame-Miranda, R. F., Gámez-Meza, N., Medina-Juárez, L. Á., Ezquerra-Brauer, J. M. Ovando-Martínez, M., & Lizardi-Mendoza, J. (2019). Bacterial cellulose production by Gluconacetobacter entanii using pecan nutshell as carbon source and its chemical functionalization. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 207, 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2018.11.067

Eratte, D., Wang, B., Dowling, K., Barrow, C. J., & Adhikari, B. P. (2014). Function and gum arabic for the microencapsulation of omega-3 rich tuna oil. *Food & Function*, *5*(2), 2743–2750. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4fo00296b

Flores-Estrada R.A., Gámez-Meza N., Medina-Juárez L.A., Castillón-Campaña L.G., Molina-Domínguez C.C., Rascón-Valenzuela L.A., and García-Galaz A. Chemical composition and antioxidant, antimicrobial and antiproliferative activities of wastes from pecan nut [Carya illinoinensis (Wagenh) K. Koch]. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*. in press. DOI: 10.1007/s12649-019-00681-2.

Frankel, E. N., Huang, S., Prior, E., & Aeschbach, R. (1996). Evaluation of antioxidant activity of rosemary extracts, carnosol and carnosic acid in bulk vegetable oils and fish oil and their emulsions. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 72(2), 201–208. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0010(199610)72:2<201::AID-JSFA632>3.0.CO;2-Q

García-moreno, P. J., Pelayo, A., Yu, S., Busolo, M., Lagaron, J. M., Chronakis, I. S., & Jacobsen, C. (2018). Physicochemical characterization and oxidative stability of fi sh oil- loaded electrosprayed capsules : Combined use of whey protein and carbohydrates as wall materials. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *231*, 42–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2018.03.005

Ghayempour, S., & Mortazavi, S. M. (2013). Fabrication of micro e nanocapsules by a new electrospraying method using coaxial jets and examination of effective parameters on their production. *Journal of Electrostatics*, 71(4), 717–727. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elstat.2013.04.001

Gomez-Estaca, J., Balaguer, M. P., Gavara, R., & Hernandez-Munoz, P. (2012). Formation of zein nanoparticles by electrohydrodynamic atomization: Effect of the main processing variables and suitability for encapsulating the food coloring and active ingredient curcumin. Food Hydrocolloids, 28(1), 82–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2011.11.013

Gulfam, M., Kim, J., Lee, J. M., Ku, B., Chung, B. H., & Chung, B. G. (2012). Anticancer drugloaded gliadin nanoparticles induce apoptosis in breast cancer cells. *Langmuir*, *28*(*21*), 8216– 8223. https://doi.org/10.1021/la300691n

Guerrero, P., Kerry, J. P., & de la Caba, K. (2014). FTIR characterization of protein– polysaccharide interactions in extruded blends. *Carbohydrate polymers*, 111, 598-605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2014.05.005

Hilbig, J., Britto, P. De, Maria, V., Souza, A. De, Curi, R., & Mara, J. (2018). Aqueous extract from pecan nut [Carya illinoinensis (Wangenh) C. Koch] shell show activity against breast cancer cell line MCF-7 and Ehrlich ascites tumor in Balb-C mice. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *211*, 256–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2017.08.012

Jaworek, A. A., & Sobczyk, A. T. (2008). Electrospraying route to nanotechnology: An overview. Journal of electrostatics, *66*, 197–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elstat.2007.10.001

Joye, I. J., Davidov-pardo, G., Ludescher, R. D., & Mcclements, D. J. (2015). Fluorescence quenching study of resveratrol binding to zein and gliadin : Towards a more rational approach to resveratrol encapsulation using water-insoluble proteins. *Food chemistry*, *185*, 261–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.03.128

Kadam, S. U., & Prabhasankar, P. (2010). Marine foods as functional ingredients in bakery and pasta products. *Food Research International*, 43(8), 1975–1980.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2010.06.007

Kaushik, P., Dowling, K., Barrow, C. J., & Adhikari, B. (2015). Microencapsulation of omega-3 fatty acids: A review of microencapsulation and characterization methods. *Journal of functional foods*, 19, 868–881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2014.06.029

Leonardis, A. De, Pizzella, L., & Macciola, V. (2008). Evaluation of chlorogenic acid and its metabolites as potential antioxidants for fish oils. European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology, 941–948. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.200700317

Liao, L., Luo, Y., Zhao, M., & Wang, Q. (2012). Preparation and characterization of succinic acid deamidated wheat gluten microspheres for encapsulation of fish oil. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, *92*, 305–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2011.12.003

Liu, H., Wang, L., Yang, T., Zhang, G., Huang, J., Sun, J., & Huo, J. (2016). Particuology Optimization and evaluation of fish oil microcapsules. *Particuology*, 29, 29, 162–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.partic.2016.04.001

Liu, Y., Wei, S., & Liao, M. (2013). Optimization of ultrasonic extraction of phenolic compounds from Euryale ferox seed shells using response surface methodology. *Industrial Crops & Products*, 49, 837–843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2013.07.023

Liu, Z., Zhang, Y., Yu, D., Wu, D., & Li, H. (2018). Fabrication of sustained-release zein nanoparticles via modi fi ed coaxial electrospraying. Chemical Engineering Journal, 334, 807–816. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2017.10.098

Moomand, K., & Lim, L. (2015). Properties of encapsulated fish oil in electrospun zein fibres under simulated in vitro conditions, Food and bioprocess technology, 8(2), 431–444. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11947-014-1414-7

Moomand, K., & Lim, L. T. (2014). Oxidative stability of encapsulated fish oil in electrospun zein fibres. *Food Research International*, 62, 523–532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2014.03.054

Nielsen, N. S., Horn, A. F., & Jacobsen, C. (2013). Effect of emulsi fi er type , pH and iron on oxidative stability of 5 % fi sh oil - in - water emulsions. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, *115*(8), 874–889. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.201200303

Noreen, H., Semmar, N., Farman, M., & McCullagh, J. S. (2017). Measurement of total phenolic content and antioxidant activity of aerial parts of medicinal plant Coronopus didymus. Asian Pacific journal of tropical medicine, *10*(8), 792–801. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apjtm.2017.07.024

Palafox-Carlos, H., Yahia, E. M., & González-Aguilar, G. A. (2012). Identification and quantification of major phenolic compounds from mango (Mangifera indica, cv. Ataulfo) fruit by HPLC – DAD – MS / MS-ESI and their individual contribution to the antioxidant activity during ripening. *Food Chemistry*, 135(1), 105–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.04.103

Pourashouri, P., Shabanpour, B., Razavi, S. H., Jafari, S. M., Shabani, A., & Aubourg, S. P. (2014). Impact of wall materials on physicochemical properties of microencapsulated fish oil by spray drying. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, *7(8)*, 354–2365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11947-013-1241-2

Prado, A. C. P., da Silva, H. S., da Silveira, S. M., Barreto, P. L. M., Vieira, C. R. W., Maraschin, M., Ferreira, S. R. S., & Block, J. M. (2014). Effect of the extraction process on the phenolic compounds profile and the antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of extracts of pecan nut. *Industrial Crops & Products*, *52*, 552–561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2013.11.031

Re, R., Pellegrini, N., Proteggente, A., Pannala, A., Yang, M., & Rice-Evans, C. (1999). Antioxidant activity applying an improved abts radical. *Free radical biology and medicine*, *26*(98), 1231–1237. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0891-5849(98)00315-3

Rovira, J., Venskutonis, P. R., & Damas, J. (2011). Antioxidant properties of garden strawberry leaf extract and its effect on fish oil oxidation. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 46(5), 935–943. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2011.02582.x

Taghvaei, M., Jafari, S. M., Mahoonak, A. S., Nikoo, A. M., Rahmanian, N., Hajitabar, J., & Meshginfar, N. (2014). The effect of natural antioxidants extracted from plant and animal resources on the oxidative stability of soybean oil. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, *56*(1), 124–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2013.11.009

Tang, Y., Zhou, Y., Lan, X., Huang, D., Luo, T., Ji, J., Mafang, Z., Miao, X., Wang, H., & Wang, W. (2019). Electrospun gelatin nano fi bers encapsulated with peppermint and chamomile essential oils as potential edible packaging. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 67(8) 4–11. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.8b06226

Torres-Giner, S., Martinez-Abad, A., Ocio, M. J., & Lagaron, J. M. (2010). Stabilization of a nutraceutical omega-3 fatty acid by encapsulation in ultrathin electrosprayed zein prolamine. *Journal of food science*, *75*(6) 69–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2010.01678.x

Vaisali, C., Belur, P. D., & Regupathi, I. (2016). Comparison of antioxidant properties of phenolic compounds and their effectiveness in imparting oxidative stability to sardine oil during storage. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, *69*, 153–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2016.01.041

Vongsvivut, J., Heraud, P., Zhang, W., Kralovec, J. A., Mcnaughton, D., & Barrow, C. J. (2012). Quantitative determination of fatty acid compositions in micro-encapsulated fish-oil supplements using Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy. *Food Chemistry*, *135*(2), 603–609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.05.012

Wang, B., Adhikari, B., & Barrow, C. J. (2014). Optimisation of the microencapsulation of tuna oil in gelatin – sodium hexametaphosphate using complex coacervation. *Food chemistry*, *158*, 358–365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.02.135

Wang, H., Liu, F., Yang, L., Zu, Y., Wang, H., Qu, S., & Zhang, Y. (2011). Oxidative stability of fish oil supplemented with carnosic acid compared with synthetic antioxidants during long-term storage. *Food Chemistry*, *128*(1), 93–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.02.082

Xie, J., Jiang, J., Davoodi, P., Srinivasan, M. P., & Wang, C. (2015). Electrohydrodynamic atomization : A two-decade effort to produce and process micro- / nanoparticulate materials. *Chemical Engineering Science*, *125*, 32–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ces.2014.08.061

Xu, Y., Li, J., Yu, D., Williams, G. R., Yang, J., & Wang, X. (2017). Influence of the drug distribution in electrospun gliadin fibers on drug- release behavior. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *106*, 422–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2017.06.017

Yang, H., Wen, P., Feng, K., Zong, M. H., Lou, Y., & Wu, H. (2017). Encapsulation of fish oil in a coaxial electrospun nano fibrous mat and its properties. RSC Advances, 7(24), 14939–14946. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7ra00051k

Yang, Y., Zhang, M., Liu, Z., Wang, K., & Yu, D. (2018). Applied surface science meletin sustained-release gliadin nanoparticles prepared via solvent surface modification on blending electrospraying. *Applied Surface Science*, *434*, 1040–1047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2017.11.024



Graphical abstracts

CAPÍTULO III

Influence of solvent on the phenolic compounds from pecan nutshell [*Carya illinoinensis* (Wagenh) K. Koch] and the antioxidant capacity

Article type

Original article, Research paper

ABSTRACT

The pecan nutshell is one of the by-products abundant worldwide. Pecan nutshell by-products can be used to obtain phenolic compounds. The phenolic compounds could be using different methods of extraction like or different solvent system. Ultrasound-assisted extraction was used for the extraction of phenolic compounds, using water, ethanol and an acidified solvent. The profile of phenolic compounds was affected, due to the type of solvent used. Gallic acid, protocatechuic acid, vanillic acid, syringic acid, ellagic acid, also various types of catechins as: epigallocatechin, catechin and epicatechin were identified and quantified. This study provides the most complete description of the phenolic content of, due to identification previously not found compounds. Besides, the antioxidant activity was reduced was reduced when the acid extraction system was used. The extract with greater activity was water and ethanol. Due to the type of extraction and powerful antioxidant activity these extracts could have potential application in the food industry as natural antioxidant, for the prevention of lipid oxidation.

Keywords

Pecan nutshell. Phenolic compounds. Antioxidant activity. Solvent systems. Byproducts.

Highlights

- The main phenolic compounds extracted from pecan nutshell by different solvents were identified and quantified.
- The different solvent systems used had a great impact on the content of phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity.
- The water and ethanol showed a powerful antioxidant activity in contrast with acidextractions.

Introduction

The deterioration of food is one of the main problems facing the food industry. The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), estimate that around of 1300 million tons of food are lost annually (FAO, 2012). The main factors contributing to the loss of food worldwide, is the chemically, physical and microbial growth. The microorganisms can produce secondary metabolites causing bad odor, texture change and pH in food. Resulting in a decrease in shelf life and an increase in the risk of foodborne diseases (Amit, Uddin, Rahman, Islam, & Khan, 2017).

For this reason, the food industry used various methodologies are used to prevent the growth of microorganisms, such as the use of antimicrobial agents. The main compounds used by the industry are of synthetic origin, for example, organic acids, organic salts, phosphates, nitrates and nitrites (Bedale, Sindelar, & Milkowski, 2016; Honikel, 2008; Sallam, 2007). Besides, they are use of synthetic antioxidants such as, propyl gallate (PG), butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT), t-butylhydroxyquinone (TBHQ) and butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA) (Liu, Wei, & Liao, 2013). These compounds are preservation tool commonly used by the food industry, and are used for to retard the growth of pathogenic, protect the safety, oxidation process and quality of foods.

However, today there is a growing demand for minimally processed foods has led the food industry to look for natural alternatives, due to potential health risks related to excessive use synthetic additives. They exist in nature a great number of natural antimicrobials derived from animals, microbial and plant sources. Consequently, the use of natural antioxidants obtained from plants is as alternatives to synthetics additives have attracted global interest in the food industry. Natural antioxidants obtained from plants are primarily phenolic compounds. In general, phenolic antioxidants can be divided into several different groups depending on their basic structure, such as phenolic acids, hydroxybenzoic acids, hydroxycinnamic acids, anthocyanins, tannins, lignans, stilbenes, coumarins, essential oils and flavonoids (Balasundram, 2006). Flavonoids and phenolic acids some of the most persistent group of phenolic compounds in plants (Vaisali, Belur, & Regupathi, 2016). These compounds have been related a powerful biological activity as antioxidants, antimutagenic, anticarcinogen properties, antihypertensive, antimicrobial capacity (Heim, Tagliaferro, & Bobilya, 2002; Palafox-carlos, Yahia, & González-aguilar, 2012).

A rich source of bioactive compounds flavonoids and phenolic acids, are the extract of plants as nutshell of pecan [Carya illinoinensis (Wagenh) K. Koch]. In recent years the global of byproduct as nutshell of pecan production is more than 460 one thousand tons (FAO, 2016). These by-products is not used nowadays, accordingly represents a waste generated worldwide (Dórame-Miranda et al., 2019; Hilbig et al., 2018). The largest producer of pecan nut is the United States, followed by Mexico (Hilbig et al., 2018b). At the national level, Mexico contribute with 63 one thousand tons and constituting a serious environmental problem (FAO, 2016). Around 40–50% of the total pecan production represents a waste generated worldwide, which is not used. The composition of the pecan nutshell has been previously reported. The main compounds identified are gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, ellagic acid, p-hydroxybenzoic acid, (+) -Catechin, epigallocatechin and epicatechin-gallate have been reported in pecan nutshell extract (Alvarez-parrilla, Urrea-lópez, & Rosa, 2018; do Prado, et al., 2014; Hilbig, et al., 2018). The catechins one of the main antioxidants reported in the literature. These compounds have a myriad of applications as in food, pharmaceutical, medicine, and agriculture and among others. Also, catechins have been linked to potent antioxidant and antimicrobial capacity.

The type of phenolic compounds extracted form pecan nutshell, will depend on several factors such as, the extraction methods, solvent used, solvent concentration, extraction time, pH of solution, temperature, pressure and ratio of solvent to raw material (do Prado, et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2013; Nour, Trandafir, & Cosmulescu, 2016). There is a large number of the extraction methods, among those who stand out maceration, hydro distillation, soxhlet extraction, microwave-assisted extraction, supercritical fluid extraction, and ultrasound-assisted extraction (UAE) (Hilbig, et al., 2018; Nour et al., 2016). Among these, the UAE is a newfangled method of extraction and offers a series of advantages, among those the high efficiency, low solvent consumption, use of low time and temperature, reproducibility and is an easy method. The aim of this study was to analyze the effect of extraction on profile of phenolic compounds of pecan nutshell [*Carya illinoinensis* (Wagenh) K. Koch] and the relationship with antioxidant capacity.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Samples

Pecan nutshell [*Carya illinoinensis* (Wagenh) K. Koch] was supply from the group Alta, S.A. de C.V., Mexico. The Wichita variety was used, samples they were frozen and stored in the dark until its use.

2.2. Chemicals

2,2'-azinobis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6 sulfonic acid) (ABTS), 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), 2,4,6-tris(2-pyridyl)-s-triazine (TPTZ) and TEAC (Trolox Equivalent Antioxidant Capacity), were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Company (St. Louis, MO). All the other chemicals used were in an analytical grade.

2.3. Ultrasound-assisted extraction of phenolic compounds

Pecan nutshell was ground in a Wiley mill (Thomas-Wiley Laboratory Mill Model 4, Thomas Scientific, USA) with a particle size up to 50 microns. The extractions were carried out in a branson ultrasonic bath (Branson Sonicador, model 1510, USA), according to Liu, Wei, & Liao, (2013) with some modifications. Samples in powder was well mixed with 30 mL of solvent (water and ethanol 60 % (w/w), also acidified solvent was used for obtain extract acid-hydrolyzed according to (Hilbig, et al., 2018) with the help of a vortex. Subsequently, the

ultrasound assisted was applied by 21 min. For increase the extraction performance. Later, the solution was centrifuged (3000 g, 4°C, 15 min). The supernatant was mixed and filtered with a filter paper Whatman No. 4. The extract was rotaevaporated and freeze-dried. The extract powder was stored at -20°C until further analysis.

2.3. Identification and quantification of phenolic compounds by UPLC-ESI-MS/MS analyses

The identification and quantification of phenolic compounds was performed using UPLC-ESI-MS/MS analysis was performed Acquity UPLC system (Waters Corporation, Milford, MA) coupled with a tandem Xevo TQ-S triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (Waters). According to (García-villalba, Carlos, Tomás-barberán, & Rocha-guzmán, 2017). Using an Acquity UPLC BEH C8 column (100 mm × 2.1 mm x 1.7 μm; Waters) operated at 30 °C. Concisely, the mobile phases were, acidified water with 7.5 mM formic acid (A) and acetonitrile (B): initial 95% A; 0-0.8 min, 95%; 0.8-1.2 min, 90% A; 1.2-1.9 min, 90% A; 1.9-2.4 min, 85% A; 2.4-3.7 min 85% A, 3.7-4.0 min 79% A; 4.0-5.2 min, 79% A; 5.2-5.7 min, 73% A; 5.7-8.0 min, 50% A; 8.0–9.0 min, 0% A; 9.0–11.5 min, 95% A; then the column was stabilized for 2 min. Data were collected in multiple reaction monitoring mode (MRM). Negative ionization was used for MS assays. ESI conditions were as follows: capillary voltage 1.56 kV; desolvation temperature 350 °C; source temperature, 150 °C; desolvation and cone gas, 650 L/h and 150 L/h, respectively, and collision gas, 0.14 mL/min. MRM transitions were determined from the MS/MS spectra of the existing phenolic acid standards and the results were in accordance with those found in the literature (Strnad, 2008). Data acquisition and processing were performed using MassLynx (Waters) software. Peak identification was based on a comparison of their retention times and MRM transitions with those of pure standards. Quantitative determinations of phenolic acids were carried out using standard calibration curves of the available standards.

2.4. Antioxidant capacity

Antioxidant capacity of pecan nutshell extracts was estimated using the radical scavenging reaction system with DPPH• and ABTS•+ radicals. The dried extract (0.1 mg mL⁻¹) was dissolved with 60% ethanol in triplicate.

2.4.1. ABTS++ method

The Trolox Equivalents of Antioxidant Capacity (TEAC) value was determined according to Re et al., (1999). The methodology is based on the ability of antioxidants present in an extract to inactivate the radical ABTS++ (2,2'-azino-bis (3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulfonic acid). The reaction was carried out using 280 μ L of radical ABTS++ with 20 μ L of sample. The reaction was allowed to stand during 7 min in darkness, and the radical reduction was monitored at a wavelength of 734 nm in a 96-well microplate reader (VeloskanTM LUX multimode microplate reader, Thermo Scientific, USA). The antioxidant capacity was expressed as micromoles of Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity per gram of extract (μ mol of TEAC/g of extract).

2.4.2. DPPH• method

The ability of the extracts to inactivate the stable radical DPPH • was calculated according to Palafox-Carlos, Yahia, & González-aguilar, (2012) with some modifications. The reaction was carried out with 280 μ L of radical DPPH • and 20 μ L of sample. The reaction was allowed to stand for 30 min in the dark. The absorbance of the samples was read at 515 nm in a microplate reader using a 96-well microplate (Veloskan TM LUX multimode microplate reader, Thermo Scientific, USA). The antioxidant capacity was expressed in terms of the concentration as μ mol of TEAC/g of extract.

2.4.3. FRAP method

The FRAP test was carried out using the method of Benzie & Strain, (1996) with some modifications. This method is based in the increase of the absorbance of the reaction sample due to the formation of the complex 2,4,6-tripyridyl-s-triazine (TPTZ) -Fe (II) in the presence of reducing agents. The FRAP reagent was prepared mixing 10 μ M TPTZ, 40 mM HCl, 20 μ M FeCl3, and 300 μ M acetate buffer. An aliquot of sample (20 μ L) was placed in each well in a microplate and mixed with 280 μ L of FRAP solution. The samples were incubated at room temperature in the dark for 30 min and the absorbance was measured at 630 nm in a microplate reader. The results were reported as μ mol of TEAC/g of extract.

2.5. Statistical analysis

All samples were analyzed in triplicate. All data are expressed as mean value \pm SD or information about RSD is provided. Graphs of the experimental data were produced using Sigma Plot 12.5 (Systat Software, San Jose, CA).

Results and discussion

The identification and quantification of phenolic compounds from UPLC-ESI-MS/MS analysis

Pecan nutshell [Carya illinoinensis (Wagenh) K. Koch] is a rich source of phenolic compounds. Polyphenols are among the most abundant antioxidant compounds in our diet and may play a key role in the prevention and treatment of non-communicable degenerative diseases. Also, due at its chemical nature could be used in food areas as potential molecules to prevent oxidation. The identification and quantification of phenolic compounds (flavonoids and non-flavonoids) in the pecan nutshell using different solvent systems are shown in Table 1.

Phenolic acids, monomers and dimers of flavan-3-ols, flavonols, flavonoes, flavones and dihydrochalcones were determined. The acid extracts showed a greater content of phenols compounds, with a total phenolic content $515.627 \pm 39.45 \,\mu g/g$ of extract lyophilized for wateracid extraction, also of 491.816 \pm 37.87 µg/g for ethanol-acid extraction. The two acid extractions showed similar content and profile of phenolic compounds. For non-acid extraction the content of phenols was less compared with acid extraction. With a content of $331.130 \pm$ 16.96 μ g/g for water and 300.653 \pm 18.99 μ g/g of extract lyophilized for ethanol. In addition the content of flavonoids were quantified. Water extraction showed the higher flavonoid content with $343.341 \pm 42.46 \,\mu\text{g/g}$, followed by ethanolic extraction $176.858 \pm 7.07 \,\mu\text{g/g}$. The ethanoic extraction he only represented the 51 % of phenolic compounds by contrast with water. For acid-extraction the flavonoid content is much less. These results agree well with the reports where it has been seen that the use of acid extractions can promote the release or hydrolysis of phenolic compounds. For example, anthocyanins are usually extracted from plant material with an acidified organic solvent, most commonly methanol. This solvent system destroys the cell membranes, simultaneously dissolves the anthocyanins, and stabilizes them. However, the acid may bring about changes in the native form of phenolic compounds by breaking down their complexes with metals and co-pigments (Garcia-salas, Morales-soto, Segura-carretero, & Fernández-gutiérrez, 2010; Ross, Beta, & Arntfield, 2009). Besides, the hydrolysis conditions, acid or alkaline only, or in different sequence, can significantly affect the total yield and profile of phenolic acids. Quinic acid, shikimic acid, floridzin, quercetin-3-glycoside, (epi)-gallocatechin, Catechin and (epi) -catechin were found to hydrolyzed under hot acidic conditions. This may partially explain why acid hydrolysis gave ahigth yield of hydroxycinnamic and hydroxybenzoic acids. In previous investigations other groups have reported, the extracts obtained from the red wheat bran showed great amount of phenolic acids existed in a bound form in wheat bran. After of hydrolyzing the bran under alkaline or acidic conditions the phenolic acids can be released (Kim, Tsao, Yang, & Cui, 2006).

				Solvent system			
	Phenolic compounds	[Quantitative ion (m/z)	Rt	Water	Ethanol	Ethanol-acid	Water-acid
1	Shikimic acid	173.18>111.07	2.35	55.48±9.28	60.58±9.19	ND	ND
2	Gallic acid	169.15>125.05	5.8	36.77±2.71	48.25±3.23	79.53±3.57	70.41±6.95
3	Protocatechuic acid	153.15>109.05	6.91	16.10±2.25	21.03±0.52	40.20±1.01	48.29±2.60
4	4-hydroxybenzoic	137.04>93.05	8.85	12.46±0.39	16.55±0.62	40.48±2.10	56.50±5.93
5	Vanillic acid	167.18>123.09	9.79	15.35±0.99	18.65±2.35	35.13±1.91	44.77±4.98
6	Syringic acid	197.21>153.11	10.07	5.48±3.24	9.39±1.09	38.94±3.97	47.77±4.21
7	Tri- hydroxybenzal- dehyde	153.15 > 83.04	12.22	15.35±0.99	ND	33.61±1.91	14.42±4.98
8	Ellagic acid	301.00>229.00	12.42	60.07±10.72	ND	216.72±24.93	230.12±30.16
9	Salicylic acid	137.04 > 93.05	14.36	0.526±0.12	ND	0.68±0.00	1.16±0.02

Table 1. Phenolic compounds from pecan nutshell using different extraction solvent systems.

10	Quinic acid	191.20 > 85.06	2.3	117.84±12.63	124.21±6.99	2.56±0.34	1.47±0.14
11	p-coumaric acid	163.24 > 119.08	11.85	1.35 ± 0.07	1.96±0.17	0.696 ± 0.04	0.662±0.11
12	Epigallocatechin	305.3>125.02	7.32	19.37±2.61	12.66±3.46	ND	ND
13	Catechin	289.02 > 245.04	9.01	100.83±14.87	59.04±6.18	3.86±1.20	5.60±1.90
14	Epicatechin	289.02 > 245.04	10.32	24.460±4.94	21.26±0.67	3.104±1.18	5.36±0.57
15	Quercetin-3-O- glucoside	463.26>300.42	12.24	93.863±4.66	35.16±11.46	ND	ND
16	Quercetin	301.2>151.02	16.45	ND	ND	ND	5.98±1.30
17	Myricetin	317.21 > 151.03	14.55	1.85±0.30	ND	3.87±1.62	10.52±1.70
18	Eriodictyol	287.28 > 135.05	16.03	5.39±1.73	ND	1.51±0.05	9.50±1.77
19	Naringenin	271.28 > 119.06	17.73	1.19±0.55	0.451 ± 0.18	4.69±0.92	12.40±2.25
20	Luteolin	285.21 > 133.04	16.15	0.92±0.31	ND	ND	ND
21	Apigenin	269.27 > 117.04	17.77	0.96 ± 0.62	ND	ND	ND
22	Phloridzin	471.34 > 273.15	14.03	94.21±21.23	$47.17{\pm}2.58$	ND	ND
23	Phloretin	273.23 >119.06	17.65	0.26±0.12	0.100 ± 0.04	1.044±0.20	2.756±0.50

*ND= not detect. Rt= Retention time.

3.2. Antioxidant capacity

3.2.1. ABTS radicals scavenging assay

The evaluation is based on ABTS radical solution discoloration (green-colored compound) to 2,2-azino-bis-3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid. The discoloration degree will depend on the electron-donating ability of the particles. Results are shown in Figure 1, which indicate that pecan nut shell extract showed a greater than 90% inhibition at the concentration of 250 μ g/mL for water, ethanol and ethanol acid-extraction. However, activity was depending on type of solvent used and the concentration (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Antioxidant activity by ABTS radical of phenolic compounds from pecan nutshell by

different solvent systems. The value is expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation (n = 3).



Figure 2. Antioxidant activity by DPPH radical of phenolic compounds from pecan nutshell by different solvent systems. The value is expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation (n = 3).

Additionally Table 2 shows the antioxidant activity of value of antioxidant activity of phenolic compounds from pecan nutshell using different solvent systems in Trolox equivalents. The antioxidant activity of phenolic compounds occurs through the donation of a hydrogen atom from a hydroxyl group attached to the aromatic ring to the chemically unstable molecules, free radicals, thus slowing the oxidation process in cell membranes and foods rich in lipids. Moreover, they are capable of inhibiting the action of enzymes such as lipoxygenase, responsible for oxidative changes in fats and oils, improving the stability of such food products. However, several factors may affect the antioxidant capacity of these compounds, including the processing conditions involving technology, solvent use and extraction temperature used in the isolation of phenolic substances (Moure et al., 2001). The concentration, the various chemical groups for the phenolic compounds, the species and variety of pecan being cultivated, in which

antioxidants are synthesized naturally, can also significantly influence the characteristics such as shell color and astringent taste of tea obtained (do Prado et al., 2010).

Table 2. Antioxidant activity of antioxidant activity of phenolic compounds from pecan

nutshell using different solvent systems

Micromoles of Trolox equivalents per g of extract lyophilized (µmol TE/g)						
Samples	ABTS	DPPH	FRAP			
Water	4541.40 ± 9.28^{a}	2056.93 ± 2.05^{a}	3545.03 ± 16.91 ^a			
Water acid-extraction	208.36 ± 18.57^{b}	$97.60\pm3.71^{\hbox{b}}$	183.51 ± 6.72^{b}			
Ethanol	4134.79 ± 11.78^{d}	2049.60 ± 4.28^{a}	849.63 ± 9.76^{d}			
Ethanol acid-extraction	$129.67 \pm 3.85^{\circ}$	$59.80 \pm 1.97^{\texttt{C}}$	$99.28 \pm 3.07^{\circ}$			

Note: the data are represented as mean values \pm standard deviation (n = 3). Different letters within the same row indicate statistically significant differences (p<0.05).

DPPH radicals scavenging assay

The analyses are based on discoloration of a DPPH radical solution (yellow-colored compound) to form diphenylpicrylhydrazine. The degree of discoloration will depend on the hydrogendonating ability of the antioxidant molecule. The inhibition capacity of the DPPH radical by of phenolic compounds from pecan nutshell using different solvent systems is showed in Figure 3 and Table 2. The results indicate that the acid-extraction showed lower inhibition activity against ABTS and DPPH radical. A similar behavior was reported by do Prado et al., (2014), who evaluated the effect of type of extraction on the antioxidant activity of extract of pecan nutshell. The different type of extraction showed different antioxidant activities.

Ferric-reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay.

The FRAP assay is based on the active compounds capacity to directly reduce Fe(III) to Fe(II). The values obtained for different solvent systems are shown in Table 2. The water and ethanol showed greater capacity reduce Fe(III), these capacity could be at the presence of catechins in these extracts, previous studies has been reported the EGCG as an effective iron chelator (Reznichenko et al., 2006). Besides, previous studies that more than one method is essential to calculate the antioxidant capacity of active compounds in vitro, because of the differences in their ability to produce free radicals (Pérez-Jiménez et al. 2008). According to antioxidant activity results in the present study, the extractions of water and ethanol possess the ability to free radical scavenge by multiple mechanisms.

Conclusions

The extracts of pecan nutshell for each of the solvent systems showed the presence of a wide variety of phenolic compounds, these compounds are plant secondary metabolites that possess various biological activities. Gallic acid, protocatechuic acid, vanillic acid, syringic acid, and ellagic acid, also various types of catechins as: epigallocatechin, catechin and epicatechin were identified and quantified. This study provides the most complete description of the phenolic content, due to identification previously not found compounds. Besides, the antioxidant activity was dependent on the type of extraction used. This may be due to the variety of antioxidants identified in each of the extracts. The water and ethanol extracts presented the highest activity by ABTS, DPPH y FRAP, in contrast with acid-extractions. This high activity could be due to the presence of catechins. Finally, this type of extracts could be used in food areas as natural antioxidants for prevent lipid oxidation.

Acknowledgement

This work was supported by CONACYT and the University of Sonora. Ramón Dórame-Miranda is grateful to CONACYT for the scholarship.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Alvarez-parrilla, E., Urrea-lópez, R., & Rosa, L. A. De. (2018). *Bioactive components and health effects of pecan nuts and their by-products: a review.*
- Amit, S. K., Uddin, M., Rahman, R., Islam, S. M. R., & Khan, M. S. (2017). A review on mechanisms and commercial aspects of food preservation and processing. *Agriculture* & Food Security, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40066-017-0130-8
- Balasundram, N. (2006). Food Chemistry Phenolic compounds in plants and agri-industrial byproducts : Antioxidant activity , occurrence , and potential uses, 99, 191–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2005.07.042
- Bedale, W., Sindelar, J. J., & Milkowski, A. L. (2016). Dietary nitrate and nitrite : Bene fi ts, risks, and evolving perceptions. *MESC*, 120, 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2016.03.009
- Benzie, I. F. F., & Strain, J. J. (1996). The Ferric Reducing Ability of Plasma (FRAP) as a Measure of "'Antioxidant Power ": The FRAP Assay, 76, 70–76.
- do Prado, A. C. P., da Silva, H. S., da Silveira, S. M., Barreto, P. L. M., Vieira, C. R. W., Maraschin, M., Ferreira, S. R. S., & Block, J. M. (2014). Effect of the extraction process on the phenolic compounds profile and the antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of extracts of pecan nut. *Industrial Crops & Products*, 52, 552–561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2013.11.031
- Dórame-miranda, R. F., Gámez-meza, N., Medina-juárez, L. Á., & Ezquerra-brauer, J. M. (2019). Bacterial cellulose production by Gluconacetobacter entanii using pecan nutshell as carbon source and its chemical functionalization. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 207(August 2018), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2018.11.067
- FAO, (2012). Loss and Waste of Food in the World—Scope, Causes and Prevention. FAO, Quebec City
- Garcia-salas, P., Morales-soto, A., Segura-carretero, A., & Fernández-gutiérrez, A. (2010). Phenolic-Compound-Extraction Systems for Fruit and Vegetable Samples, 8813–8826. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules15128813
- García-villalba, R., Carlos, J., Tomás-barberán, F. A., & Rocha-guzmán, N. E. (2017). Journal of Food Composition and Analysis Comprehensive characterization by LC-DAD-MS / MS of the phenolic composition of seven Quercus leaf teas. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 63(April), 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfca.2017.07.034
- Heim, K. E., Tagliaferro, A. R., & Bobilya, D. J. (2002). Flavonoid antioxidants : chemistry , metabolism and structure-activity relationships, *13*, 572–584.
- Hilbig, J., Britto, P. De, Maria, V., Souza, A. De, Curi, R., & Mara, J. (2018). Aqueous extract from pecan nut [Carya illinoinensis (Wangenh) C. Koch] shell show activity against breast cancer cell line MCF-7 and Ehrlich ascites tumor in Balb-C mice. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 211, 256–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2017.08.012
- Hilbig, J., Rodrigues, V., Maria, C., Müller, O., Amadeu, G., Vitali, L., ... Mara, J. (2018). Ultrasonic-assisted extraction combined with sample preparation and analysis using LC-ESI-MS / MS allowed the identi fi cation of 24 new phenolic compounds in pecan nut shell [Carya illinoinensis (Wangenh) C . Koch] extracts. *Food Research International*, *106*(October 2017), 549–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.01.010
- Honikel, K. (2008). MEAT The use and control of nitrate and nitrite for the processing of meat products, 78, 68–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2007.05.030
- Kim, K., Tsao, R., Yang, R., & Cui, S. W. (2006). Food Chemistry Phenolic acid profiles and antioxidant activities of wheat bran extracts and the effect of hydrolysis conditions, 95, 466–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2005.01.032
- Liu, Y., Wei, S., & Liao, M. (2013). Optimization of ultrasonic extraction of phenolic compounds from Euryale ferox seed shells using response surface methodology. *Industrial Crops & Products*, 49, 837–843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2013.07.023

- Nour, V., Trandafir, I., & Cosmulescu, S. (2016). Optimization of ultrasound-assisted hydroalcoholic extraction of phenolic compounds from walnut leaves using response surface methodology, 0209(September 2017). https://doi.org/10.3109/13880209.2016.1150303
- Palafox-carlos, H., Yahia, E. M., & González-aguilar, G. A. (2012). Identification and quantification of major phenolic compounds from mango (Mangifera indica, cv. Ataulfo) fruit by HPLC DAD MS / MS-ESI and their individual contribution to the antioxidant activity during ripening. *Food Chemistry*, 135(1), 105–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.04.103
- Re, R., Pellegrini, N., Proteggente, A., Pannala, A., Yang, M., & Rice-Evans, C. (1999).Antioxidant activity applying an improved abts radical, 26(98), 1231–1237.
- Ross, K. A., Beta, T., & Arntfield, S. D. (2009). A comparative study on the phenolic acids identified and quantified in dry beans using HPLC as affected by different extraction and hydrolysis methods. *Food Chemistry*, 113(1), 336–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.07.064
- Sallam, K. I. (2007). Food Chemistry Chemical , sensory and shelf life evaluation of sliced salmon treated with salts of organic acids, *101*, 592–600. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2006.02.019
- Strnad, M. (2008). Rapid analysis of phenolic acids in beverages by UPLC MS / MS, 111, 789–794. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.05.014
- Vaisali, C., Belur, P. D., & Regupathi, I. (2016). Comparison of antioxidant properties of phenolic compounds and their effectiveness in imparting oxidative stability to sardine oil during storage. LWT - Food Science and Technology, 69, 153–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2016.01.041

CONCLUSIONES

La cáscara de nuez pecana (*Carya illinoinensis*) representa una excelente fuente de carbono para la producción de celulosa bacteriana con *Gluconacetobacter entanii*.

La metilcelulosa obtenida a partir de la celulosa de la bacteria *Gluconacetobacter entanii* no presentó las propiedades fisicoquímicas adecuadas para microencapsular el aceite de sardina por el método de electroaspersión.

Microcapsulas de gliadinas como material de pared y compuestos fenólicos de la cáscara de nuez como agentes antioxidantes, fueron obtenidas a través de un proceso de optimización por elctrospray, dichas microcapsulas tuvieron la capacidad de encapsular aceite de sardina.

Las catequinas fueron los principales compuestos extraídos de la cáscara de nuez, y a quien se le atribuye la estabilización del aceite de sardina durante su almacenamiento.

La microencapsulación del aceite de sardina en una matriz de gliadinas, adicionado con compuestos fenólicos de la cáscara de nuez pecana (*Carya illinoinensis*), permitió proteger al aceite de sardina contra la oxidación.

RECOMENDACIONES

Estudiar el efecto del grado de sustitución a partir de celulosas funcionalizadas químicamente.

Evaluar el efecto del voltaje, peso molecular y el tipo de solvente en celulosa y metilcelulosa para formación de micropartículas por electroaspersión.

Realizar pruebas de toxicidad y probar los microencapsulados obtenidos utilizando sistemas biológicos *in vivo* o *in vitro*. Tales como: pruebas de digestibilidad, bioabsorción y modelos murinos.

Incorporar los microencapsulados obtenidos en un alimento para ver el efecto potencial como alimento funcional.

Obtener un registro de patente para los materiales obtenidos en este trabajo de tesis.